THUAN DUC SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM

JOINT STOCK COMPANY Independence — Freedom — Happiness
No. 1304/2025/NQ-DHPCD-TDP Hung Yen, April 13, 2025
DRAFT RESOLUTION

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS IN 2025
THUAN DUC JOINT STOCK COMPANY
- Pursuant to the Law on Enterprises No. 59/2020/0HI4 approved by the National

Assembly of the Socialist Republic of Vietnam on June 17, 2020 and guiding
documents;

- Pursuant to the Law on Securities No. 54/201%0H14 approved by the National
Assembly of the Socialist Republic of Vietnam on November 26, 2019 and its guiding
doctiments;

- Pursuant to the Charter of organization and operation of Thuan Due Joint Stock
Company,

- Pursuant to the Minutes of the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of
Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company dated April 13, 2025,

RESOLUTION

Diéu 1: Approving the Report of the Board of Directors on production and business
results in 2024 and production and business plans in 2025,

The General Meeting of Shareholders approved the Repori of the Board of
Directors on the results of production and business activities in 2024,

The Board of Directors has set out the consolidated production and business plan in
2024 as follows:

- Total revenue: VND 4,500 billion

- Profit after tax: VND 98 billion

- Cash dividend rate, expected: 5%

The General Mecting of Shareholders authorizes the Board of Directors of the
Company to carry out business activities, adjust production and business plans to suit the
actual operation of the Company. The expected dividend rate is based on the actual
realized profit in 2025 and the company's charter capilal at the time of implementation.

Didu 2: Approve the 2024 Board of Directors Activity Report and 2025 Operation Plan;

Independent report of members of the Board of Directors on the aperation of the Board of
Directors in 2024




Piéu 3: Approve the Supervisory Board's 2024 Activity Report and 2025 Operation
Plan.

Bieu 4: Approved the Company's Separate Financial Statements and Consolidated
Financial Statements for 2024 sudited by Ernst & Young Vietnam Co., Ltd,

Diéu 5: Approving the selection of an independent auditor to audit the Company's
Financial Statements in 20235 as follows:

The General Meeting of Shareholders approves the auditing companies to andit and
review the financial statements in 2025 of Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company as follows:
- Emst & Young Vietnam Co., Lid.:

- Deloitte Victnam Co., Lid.;
- Grant Thomton Vietnam Co., Ltd.:

- BDO Auditing Co., Lid.;

Nhan Tam Viet Auditing Co., Ltd.;
- International Auditing and Valuation Company Limited (IAV).

The General Meeting of Sharcholders authorizes the Board of Directors to selsct a
specific auditing firm according to the above list.

In case it is not possible to negotiate with the auditing companies on the above list on
the implementation time and implementation fee, the General Meeting of Shareholders
shall authorize the Board of Directors of the Company to be allowed to select another
independent anditing unit named in the list of audited financial statements far 2025 of the
State Securities Commission currently auditing the financial statements in 2025 of Thuan
Duc Joint Stock Company.
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Piéu 6: Approve the profit distribution plan in 2024 and the plan for 2025

The General Meeting of Shareholders approved the profit distribution plan in 2024
with the following contents:

STT Quota Amount (VND)
i. | Consolidated profit after tax in 2024 93.917.546.428
| Profit after tax of the parent company in 2024 94.069.564.733
3. | Setting up funds = -

4. | Profit after tax after setting up funds in 2024 93.917.546.428
5 | Profits in previous years have not been fully distributed 6.888.505.704
s | Undistributed profit (= 4+5) I 100.806.052.132
5 ED;:iiiTnds paid in cash, at the rate of 5% of charter 44.111.125.000
g | Retained Profit (<=6-7) 56.694.927.132

The General Meeting of Sharcholders authorizes the Board of Directors to

determine the record date and carry out all related tasks and procedures for the payment
of 2024 cash dividends to sharcholders.

Pitu 7: Approve the payment of remuneration of the Board of Directors and the
Supervisory Board in 2024 and the plan to pay remuneration of the Board of Directors
and the Supervisory Board in 2025,

The Annual General Meeting of Sharcholders in 2025 approves the remuneration

for members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board of Thuan Duc Joint
Stock Company as follows:

-[ Remuneration
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The total remuneration of the Board of Dircctors and Supervisory Board in 2024 is;
1,396,000,000 VND (One billion five hundred and ninety-six million VND).

The plan to pay remuneration for the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board
in 2025 is expected to be: 1,560,000,000 VND (One billion five hundred and sixty
million VND).

Approve the amendment of the Company's Charter of organization and operation in
accordance with the provisions of law.

The General Meeting of Shareholders of the Company unanimously approved the
amendment and supplementation of the Company's Charter in accordance with the
provisions of law according to the Report No. 052025/ TTr-DHDCD-TDP dated
13/04/2025 of the Board of Directors of the Company (Proposal to amend and
supplement the content of the Company'’s Charter attached).

Article 9: Approve the plan to pay cash dividends in 2024.

The Company's General Meeting of Shareholders unanimously approved the plan to
pay cash dividends in 2024 according to the Report Ne. 06/2025/TTe-DHDCCH-TDP
dated 13/04/2025 of the Board of Directors of the Company (the Report on payment of
cash dividends in 2024 is attached).

Article 10: To approve the plan to issue shares to existing shareholders.

The Company's General Meeting of Shareholders unanimously spproved the plan to
issue shares to existing shareholders according to the Report No. 07/2025/TTr-DHDCD-
TDPF dated 13/04/2025 of the Board of Directors of the Company (Proposal for issuance
of shares to existing shareholders is attached).

Article 11: To approve the election of members of the Board of Directors for the
term 2025 — 2030,

The Company's General Meeting of Shareholders unanimously approved the
clection of members of the Board of Directors for the term 2025 — 2030 according to the
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Report No . 08/2025/TTr-DHDCD-TDP dated 13/04/2025 of the Board of Directors of
the Company (Aditached Report on the Election af Members of the Board of Directors),

The Board of Directors of the Company for the term 2025 — 20230 consists of the
following men/women:

L. Mr. Mguyen Duc Cuong
2. Ms, Ngo Kim Dung

3. Mr. Bui Quang Sy

4. Mr. Tran Dang Duy

3. Ms. Nguven Kim Anh
6. Mr, Pham Van Chi

7. Mr. Nguyen Van Truong

Article 12: Approval of the Election of Members of the Supervisory Board for the term
2025 - 2030

The General Meeting of Shareholders of the Company unanimously approved the
clection of members of the Supervisory Board for the term 2025 — 2030 according to the
Report No . 092025/ TTr-DHDCD-TDP dated 13/04/2025 of the Board of Directors of
the Company (Attached Proposal for Election of Members of the Supervisory Board).

The Supervisory Board of the Company for the term 2025 2030 consists of the
following men/women:

1. Mr. Bui Huy Hoang
2. Mrs. Do Thi Hong Tu
3. Mrs. Duong Thi Thu Hoai

Article 13; To approve the Report of the Board of Directors on the Company's
Transaction Contracts with related parties.
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Article 14: Implementation provisions

This Resolution was read in full at the General Meeting and was approved by the
2025 Annual General Meeting of Sharcholders of Thuan Duc Joint Stack Company and
takes effect from April 13, 2025,

The Board of Directors of Thuan Due Joint Stock Company, the Board of General
Directors, the Supervisory Board and relevant persons are responsible for performing the
tasks assigned by the General Meeting of Shareholders in this Resolution in order to
ensure the interests of sharcholders and the Company and comply with the provisions of

Law.

Recipient: ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF
- Shareholders (pasted an the Company's websita); DIRECTORS CHAIRMAN OF THE BOD
- 8SC. Ho Chi Mink City Stock Exchange Ha P Ly N

1 ]

Chi Minh Clry, HNX (report);

- Members of the Board of Directors, Board of
Directors, Superazory Board:

- S fo office,

NGUYEN DUC CUONG



THUAN DUC THE SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM

JOINT STOCK COMPANY Independence - Freedom - Happiness
No: 1304-42025/BB-DHDCB-TDP Hung Yen, April 13, 2025
MINUTES OF MEETING

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS 2025
THUAN DUC JOINT STOCK COMPANY
Today, at 2:30 am on April 13, 2025, at the conference hall of Thuan Duc Joint $iock

Company, Bang Ngang Hamlet, Luong Bang Town, Kim Dong District, Hung Yen
Province, Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company held the 2025 annual general meeting of
sharcholders, specifically as follows:

L. OPENING OF THE MEETING
1. Participants of the Meeting

» Mr. Nguyen Duc Cuong - Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company:
« Members of the Board of Directors;

» Members of the Supervisory Board;

= Members of the Executive Board;

« Sharcholders of the Company and Guests.

2, Legality and Validity of the Meeting

The meeting listened to Mr. Bui Huy Hoang - Head of the Sharcholder Eligibility
Verification Committee - report on the verification results of shareholders eligible 1o
attend the meeting as follows:

« Total number of shares of the Company: 88,222,250 sharcs.

» Total number of sharcholder delegates present, either as owners or authorized
representatives: 57 shareholders, holding and representing 85.192.185 shares, equivalent
to 96,57% of the total voting shares.

Authorized representatives of shareholders attending the meeting have completed the
registration procedures in accordance with the Meeting Regulations. Shareholders and
their authorized representatives at the meeting are all eligible ta participate,

Based on the Enterprise Law No. 59/2020/QH14 dated June 17. 2020, and the Charter
on Organization and Operation of Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company, the 2025 Annual
GUeneral Meeting of Shareholders has met all legal and regulatory requirements to proceed
in a lawful and valid manner.

II. AGENDA AND CONTENT OF THE MEETING

L. Approval of the Presidium, Secretariat, and Vote Counting Committee
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The Chairman of the Meeting is Mr. Nguyen Duc Cueng, Chairman of the Board
of Directors.

Mr. Nguyen Duc Cuong, as the Chairman of the Meeting, nominated the list of the
Presidium.

The shareholders unanimously approved the nominated Presidium list with 100%
agreement as follows:

Presidinm:

L.

e R ke

Mr. Nguyen Duc Cuong — Chairman of the Board of Directors — Chairman of the
Mecting

Mrs. Ngo Kim Dung — Member of the Board of Directors — Member

Mr. Bui Quang Sy — Member of the Board of Directors — Member

Mr. Pham Van Chi — Member of the Board of Directors — Member

Mr. Nguyen Van Truong — Member of the Board of Directors — Member

Mr. Nguyen Duc Cuong, as the Chairman of the Meeting, nominated the list of the
Secretariat and the Vote Counting Committee,

The shareholders unanimously approved the nominated lists with 100% agreement as
follows:

Secretariat of the Meeting:

1.
2

Mr. Tran Duy Hop —Head of the Secretariat
Mrs. Nguyen Thi Hang — Member

Vote Counting Committee:

rirt et i) B

Mrs. Vu Thi Yen — Head of the Vote Counting Committee
Mrs. Dang Thuy Dung — Member

Ms. Vu Thi Ngoc — Member

Mrs. Nguyen Thi Thao — Member

Mrs. ¥u Thi Thanh Huong — Member

Voting method: Raising voting cards at the meeting.

Voting results:

2,

Approved: 100%
Disapproved: 0%
No opinion: 0%

Approval of the Meeting Agenda

The meeting listened to Mr. Tran Dang Duy present the agenda of the 2025 Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders.

The meeting unanimously agreed on the content of the agenda,

Voting resulis:

Approved: 100%
Disapproved: 0%
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« Mo opinion: 0%
3. Approval of the Working Regulations of the Meeting

The meeting listened to Mr. Tran Dang Duy present the Working Regulations of the 2025
Annual General Meeting of Sharcholders.

The shareholders unanimously approved the Working Regulations of the Meeting.

Voting results:

» Approved: 100%
+ Disapproved: 0%
« Noopmion: 0%

4. Approval of Reports and Proposals of the Meeting

4.1, Ms. Ngo Kim Dung — Member of the Board of Directors — presented the Board of
Directors” Report on the implementation of tasks in 2024 and the objectives, tasks, and
plans for 2025; Mr. Nguyen Van Truong — Independent Board Member — presented a
report on the activities of the Board of Directors in 2024,

4.2. Mr. Bui Quang Sy — General Director — presented the Executive Board’s Report on
the business performance in 2024 and the business plan for 20235,

4.3. Mr. Bui Huy Hoang — Head of the Supervisory Board — presented the Supervisory
Board's Report on its activities in 2024,

4.4. Mr. Tran Dang Duy, authorized by the Board of Dircctors, presented the following
proposals before the Meeting:

+ Proposal No. 1: Approval of the 2024 audited financial statements.

+ Proposal No. 2: Selection of an independent audit firm for the 2025 financial
statements audit.

+ Proposal No. 3: Profit distribution plan for 2024 and the plan for 2025,

+ Proposal No. 4: Remuneration for the Board of Directors and the Supervisory
Board in 2024 and the remuneration plan for 2025.

+ Proposal No. 5: Amendments and supplements to the Charter on Organization and

Operation of Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company.

Proposal No. 6: Plan for stock issuance to pay dividends for 2024.

Proposal No. 7: Plan for stock issuance to existing shareholders.

Propesal No. 8: Election of Board of Directors members for the 2025 — 2030 term.

Proposal No. 9: Election of Supervisory Board members for the 2025 - 2030 term.

Report of the Board of Directors on transactions between the Company and related

parties.
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1L DISCUSSION ON THE CONTENT PRESENTED AT THE GENERAL
MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
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The meeting discussed the contents of the reports and proposals presented at the
General Meeting of Shareholders. The shareholders unanimously agreed on the presented
contents and explanations at the meeting, with no further opinions,

IV. VOTING RESULTS

Article 1: Approval of the Executive Board's Report on the business performance in 2024
and the business plan for 2023.

The detailed content follows the 2024 business performance summary report and the 2025
business plan of the Company, which has been sent to shareholders, shareholder
representatives attending the meeting, and was read in full at the meeting.

The Executive Board has set the following consclidated business plan for 2025

« Total revenue: VIND 4.500 billion
» Net profit after tax: VIND 98 billion
» Estimated cash dividend payout ratio: 5%

The General Meeting of Sharcholders assigns the Board of Directors 10 implement
business activities and adjust the business plan in accordance with the actual operational
situation of the Company. The projected dividend payout ratio will be based on the actual
profit achieved in 2025 and the Company's charter capital at the time of implementation.

The General Meeting of Shareholders voted to approve the report with the
following results:

Percentage of voting calculated on
Voting opinions Number of Shares the number of shares with voting
_rights at the General Meeting
Agree 85.192.185 100%
Disagree 0 0%
No Comments 0 0%

Article 2: Approval of the Board of Directors” Report on its activities in 2024 and the

activity plan for 2025, as well as the Independent Board Member’s Report on the Board
of Directors’ performance in 2024.

The detailed content follows the Board of Directors” Report on its activities in
2024 and the activity plan for 2025, along with the Independent Board Member's Report
on the Board of Directors” performance in 2024, These reports have been sent to

shareholders, shareholder representatives attending the meeting, and were read in full at
the meeting.

The General Meeting of Shareholders voted to approve the reports with the following
results:



Nusberaf Percentage of voting nalc_:u]ateﬂ on
Voting opinions Shal. the number of shares with voting
n rights at the General Meeting
 Agree 85.1921.185 100%
Disagree 0 0%
No Comments 0 0%

Article 3: Approval of the Supervisory Board's Report on its activities in 2024 and the
activity plan for 2025,

The detailed content follows the Supervisory Board®s Report on its activities in
2024 and the activity plan for 2025, which has been sent to shareholders, shareholder
representalives attending the meeting, and was read in full at the meeting,

The General Meeting of Shareholders voted to approve the reports with the
tollowing results:

amberiot Percentage of voting calculated on
Yoting opinions it the number of shares with voting
rights at the General Meeting
| Agree 85.192.185 : 100%
Disagree ] Mo
No Comments ] %o

Article 4: Approval of the Separate Financial Statements and the Audited Consolidated
Financial Statements for 2024.

The Scparate Financial Statements and the Consolidated Financial Statements for

2024 were audited by Emnst & Young Vietnam Limited,
The 2024 Separate and Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company were audited
by Emnst & Young Vietnam Limited in accordance with applicable standards, reviewed by
the Company’s Supervisory Board, and published by the Board of Directors on the
Company's website (hitp://thuanducjse.vn/quan-he-co-dong), including:

» Report of the Executive Board:

+ Independent Auditor’s Report;

= Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2024

* Income Statement for 2024:

» Cash Flow Statement;
= Notes to the Financial Statements.

The General Meeting of Sharcholders voted to approve the reports with the following
results:
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Nianbi 6F Percentage of voting calculated on
Voting opinions Shires the number of shares with voting
rights at the General Meeting
Agree 85.192.185 100%6
Disagree 0 0%
No Comments 0 0%

Article 5: Approval of the selection of an independent audit firm to audit and review the
Company's financial statements for 2025,
The General Meeting of Shareholders approved the selection of the following audit firms
to conduct the audit and review of the financial statements of Thuén Birc Joint Stock
Company for 2025:

« Emst & Young Vietnam Limited

+ Deloilte Vietnam Limited

« Grant Thornton Vietnam Limited

» BDO Audit Limited Company

» Nhan Tam Viet Audit Limited Company

» International Audit & Valuation (IAV) Limited Company
The General Meeting of Sharcholders authorizes the Board of Directors to select a
specific audit firm from the above list,
In case negotiations with the listed audit firms regarding the implementation timeline and
audit fees are unsuccessful, the General Meeting of Shareholders authorizes the Board of
Directors to sclect another independent audit firm from the list of firms approved by the

State Securities Commission of Vietnam to audit the Company's financial statements for
2025,

The General Meeting of Shareholders voted to approve the reports with the
following results:

Percentage of voting caleulated on
Voting opinions H'é'::ﬂ . the numEEer of shnfes with voting
ity _rights at the General Meeting
Agree 85.192.185 100%
Disagree 0 0%
No Comments 0 0%

Article 6: To approve the profit distribution plan in 2024 and the plan for 2025,

The General Meeting of Shareholders approved the profit distribution plan in 2024
with the following contents:

No. Quota Amount (VND)
1. | Consolidated profit after tax in 2024 93.917.546.428%
2. | Profit after tax of the parent company in 2024 94.069.564.733
3. | Setting up funds ]
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4. | Profit after tax afier sctting up funds in 2024 93.917.546.428
Profits in previous years have not been fully

5. distributed 6.333.5&5-?{31

6. | Undistributed profit (= 4+5) 100.806.052.132

7. | Cash dividend to be paid at 5% of the charter capital 44.111.125.000

8. | Retained Retumns (=6-7) 56.6094.927.132

The General Meeting of Shareholders authorizes the Board of Directors to determine

the record date for the shareholder list and to carry out all necessary tasks and procedures
related to the diswribution of 2024 dividends in the form of shares to sharcholders,

The General Meeting of Sharcholders voted to approve the reports with the
following results:

Percentage of voting calculated on
Voting opinions Number of Shares | the number of shares with voting
5 rights at the General Meeting
Agree 85.186.372 100%%
Disagree 0 0%
No Comments 3.813 0%

Article 7: Approval of the remuneration payment for the Board of Directors and the
Supervisory Board for 2024 and the remuneration plan for the Board of Directors and the
Supervisory Board for 2025.

The 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders approved the remuneration

levels for the members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisary Board of Thuan Due
Joint Stock Company as follows:

: No Title Quantity | Remuneration in Quantity | Remuneration
i 2024 2024 2025 plan in 2025
' !
irman of : o
! g:::ﬂ of siue 01 20 million 01 20 million
: VND/month VNDYmonth
: Directors
Member of the
. 15 million 15 million
2 | Board of 06 06 |
Diceiti s YIND/month VNDYmonth
I th . ;
X 5::'1 o ur: o1 | 10million s 10 million
[
Boand VNDYmonth | VNDYmonth
. 08 million |
h
4 | Deputy Architect 01 VND/month
M f I
& 3 Su;r:i_l:]:}r e 01 05 million " 05 million
Board VNDYmonth | VND/month
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The total remuneration of the Board of Directors and Supervisory Board in 2024 is;
1.596.000.000 VND (One billion five hundred and ninety-six million VND),

The plan to pay remuneration for the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board
in 2025 is expected to be: 1.560.000.000 VND (One billion five hundred and sixty million
VYND).

The Gencral Meeting of Shareholders voted to spprove the reports with the following
results:

| Percentage of voting calculated on the

Yoting opinions Number of Shares | number of shares with voting rights at
the General Meeting

Agree B5.186.372 100%

Disagree 0 0%

No Comments 5.813 0%

Article 8: Approval of amendments and supplements to the Company's Charter in
accordance with legal regulations.

The General Meeting of Shareholders unanimously approved the amendments and
supplements to the Company's Charter as proposed in Proposal No. 05/2025/TTr-
BHBCD-TDP dated April 13, 2025, by the Board of Directors (attached FProposal on
amendments and supplements to the Company'’s Charter).

The General Meeting of Sharcholders voted to approve the reports with the
following resulis:

! Percentage of voting calculated on

Yoting opinions

Number of Shares

the number of shares with voting
rights at the General Meeting

 Agree 85.192.185 100%
Disagree 0 0%
| No Comments 0 0%

Article 9: Approval of the 2024 Cash Dividend Payment Plan

The General Meeting of Shareholders approved the 2024 cash dividend payment plan as
presented in Proposal No. 06/2025/TTr-DHDCE-TDP dated April 13, 2025, submitted by the

Company’s Board of Directors (Attached is the propesal for 2024 cash dividend payment.).

The General Meeting of Sharcholders voted to approve the reports with the following

resujis:
Percentage of voting calculated on
Voting opinions Number of Shares the number of shares with voting
rights at the General Meeting
 Agree 85.192.185 100%
Disagree 0 0%
No Comments 0 0%




Article 10: To gpprove the plan to issue shares to existing sharcholders.

The General Meeting of Shareholders unanimously approved the plan to issue shares
to existing shareholders as proposed in Proposal No. 07/2025/TTr-BHPCBH-TDP dated
April 13, 2025, by the Board of Directors (attached Praposal on the issuance of shares
fo existing shareholders).

The General Meeting of Shareholders voted to approve the reporis with the
following results:

Percentage of voting calculated on the
Voting opinions Number of Shares number of shares with voting rights at
R the General Meeting
Agree 85.186.372 100%
Disagree 0 0%
No Comments 5.813 0%

Article 11: To approve the election of members of the Board of Directors for the
term 2025 — 2030,

The General Meeting of Shareholders unanimously approved the election of the
Board of Directors members for the 2025-2030 term as per Proposal No. 08/2025/TTr-
DHDCE-TDY dated April 13, 2025, from the Company's Board of Directors (aftached
Froposal on the election of Board of Direciors members),

The General Meeting of Sharcholders voted to approve the reports with the
following results:

No, Full name Votes Elected Antio ta num.h i
of participating
shares (%)
1 Mr. Nguyen Duc Cuong 85.688.112| 100,58 |

2 Mrs. Ngo Kim Dung 85.077.152 99,86
3 Mr. Bui Quang Sy £3.076.461 99,86
4 Mr. Tran Dang Duy 85.076.451 99,86
5 | Mrs. Nguyen Kim Anh 85.076.441 09,86
| 6 |Mr. Pham Van Chi B5.076.441 00,86
7 Mr. Nguyen Van Truong 85.076.441 99,86

Article 12: To approve the election of members of the Supervisory Board for the
term 2025 - 2030.

The General Meeting of Sharcholders unanimously approved the election of the
Supervisory Board members for the 2025-2030 term as per Proposal No. 09/2025/TTr-
DHBCBD-TDP dated April 13, 2025, from the Company's Board of Directors (attached
Proposal on the election of Supervisory Board members).



The General Meeting of Sharcholders voted to approve the reports with the following
results:

Ratio to number
No. Full name Votes Elected SR
of participating |
_ shares (%)
1 Mr Bui Huy Hoang 85.220.297 100,03
Mrs Do Thi Hong Tu 85.177.692 99,98
3 Mrs Duong Thi Thu Hoai 85.176.874 99 08

Article 13: To approve the Report of the Board of Directors on the Company's
Transaction Contracts with related parties.

The detailed content according to the Report of the Board of Directors has been
sent to shareholders and representatives of shareholders attending the General Meeting
and read the full text at the General Meeting,

The General Meeting of Sharcholders voted to approve the reports with the
following results:

Percentage of voting calculated on the
Yoting opinions Number of Shares number of shares with voting rights at
the General Meeting
Agree 85.186.372 100%
Disagree ] 0%
No Comments. | 5.813 _ 0%

V. APPROVING THE MINUTES AND RESOLUTIONS OF THE CONGRESS

Mr. Tran Duy Hop, Head of the Secretariat, presented the full text of the Minutes and
Resolutions of the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.

Mr. Nguyen Duc Cuong, Chairman of the Board of Directors, requested the approval of
the General Meeting of Shareholders for the Minutes and Resolutions of the 2025 Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders.

The General Meeting of Shareholders voted to approve the contents presented at the
meeting with the following results:

Percentage of voting calculated on the

Voting opinions Number of Shares | number of shares with voting rights at
the General Meeting

| Agree . 83,192,185 100%

Disagree 0 0%

No Comments ] 0%




The Minutes were recorded accurately and truthfully by the Secretary of the General Meeting,
read aloud before the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, and published on the
Company's website to inform all shareholders.

The 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company
concluded at 12:00 PM on the same day.

ON BEHALF OF THE SECRETARIAT ON BEHALF OF THE GEHEII:;I_../[
HEADOF THE COMMITTEE : MEETING OF SHAREHOLDE
" CHAIRMAN OF THE GENERAL MEETING
L
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TRAN DUY HOP NGUYEN DUC CUONG

- Sharekolders (posted on the Compary's website);

- Brate Securities Commizsion of Vietnam, Ho Chi Minh
City Stock Exchangs, Hanol Stock Exchange (for reporiing:
- Members of the Board of Directors, Execniive Board, awd
Suprervisory Boaed:

- Archived at the Company Office,
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THUAN DUC THE SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM

JOINT STOCK COMPANY Independence - Freedom - Happiness

No: 012025 TTr-BHPCD-TDP Hung Yen, April 13, 2025

PROPOSAL TO THE 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
Re: Approval of the audited financial statements for 2024

. Pursuant to the Law on Enterprises No. 39/2020/QH 14, passed by the National Assembly of
the Socialist Republic of Vietnam on June 17, 2020, and its guiding documents;

- Pursuant to the Law on Securities No. 34/2019/QH14, passed by the National Assembly af
the Socialist Republic of Vietnam on November 26, 2019, and its guiding documents,

- Pursuant to the Charter on organization and operation of Thuan Due Joint Stock Company;
- The parent company's financial siatements and the consolidated financial statements for
2024 of Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company have been audited.

The Board of Directars (ROD) respectfully submits to the Annual General Meeting of
Sharcholders (AGM) for approval of the audited parent company financial statements and
consolidated financial statements for 2024 of Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company as follows:

- The parent company's financial statements and consolidated financial statements for 2024
were audited by Ernst & Young Vietnam Limited Company; (B e
- The financial statements for 2024, both for the parent company and on a consolidated basis, l'l'n" |
have been audited in compliance with the applicable standards, reviewed by the Company’s \{TH{H

Supervisory Board, and published on the Company's website (hitp://thuanducjsc, w'guan-he- W
eo-dang), including:

- Report of the Board of Management;

- Independent Auditor’s Report;

- Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2024;

- Statement of Comprehensive Income for 2024;
- Cash Flow Statement for 2024,

- Notes to the Financial Statements.

The Board of Directors respectfully submits this proposal to the General Meeting of
Shareholders for review and approval.

Sincerely..



Recipients:
- Sharekolders (posted on the Company's website); ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTOR
. $taie Securities Comission of Vietnam, Ho Chi Mink CHAIRMAN OF THE EDD/L //

Ciry Stock Exchange, Hanoi Stock Eecharge {for reportingl;
- Members of the Board of Directors, Executive Board, and

Bowrd;
- drehived af the Company Office.

NGUYEN DUC CUONG




THUAN DUC THE SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM

JOINT STOCK COMPANY Independence - Freedom - Happiness

No: 0212025/ TTr-DHDCB-TDP Hung Yen, April 13, 2025

PROPOSAL TO THE 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
Re: Selection of an independent audit firm for the 2025 financial statements

_ Pursuant to the Law on Enterprises No. S9/2020/QH14, passed by the National Assembly
of the Socialist Republic of Vietnam on June 17, 2020, and its guiding documenis;

- Pursuant to the Law on Securities No, 4/20119/0H 14, passed by the National Assembly af
the Socialist Republic of Fieinam on November 26, 2019, and its guiding documents;

_ Pursuant to the Charter on organization and eperation af Thuan Duc Joint Steck
Company;

- The parent company's financial stalements and the consolidated finamcial statements for
2024 of Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company have been audited

The Board of Directors respectfully submits for approval by the General Meeting of
Shareholders the selection of the following audit firms to conduct the audit and review of

the Company’s financial stalements for the year 2025: P
. FErnst & Young Vietnam Limited Liability Company; r}f;?;aéﬂ_?-"
. Deloitte Vietnam Limited Liability Company; [ &
+ Grant Thornton Vietnam Limited Liability Company; W\ THUA
« BDO Audit Limited Liability Company; Wt
. Nhat Tam Viet Audit Limited Liability Company; =
. [nternational Auditing and Valuation Limited Liability Company {(LAV ).

We kindly request the General Meeting of Shareholders to approve the authorization for the
Board of Directors 1o select the speeific audit firm from the above list.

In case negotiations with the listed audit firms regarding the implementation timeline and
service fees are unsuccessful, the General Meeting of Shareholders authorizes the Board of
Directors to sclect another independent andit firm from the list of approved audit firms for
the 2025 financial statements of the State Securitics Commission of Vietnam to conduct the
audit for Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company’s financial statements for the year 2023.

The Board of Directors respectfully submits this proposal for consideration and approval by
the General Meeting of Sharcholders.

Sincerely .
Reciplents:



- Shareholders (posted on the Company's website);
- Srate Securities Commission af Fietnam, Ho CK Mirh

City Stuck Exchange
- Members of the Board of Directors, Execulive

Supervisory Board,
. Arehivad at the Company Cifice.

. Hanol Stock Exchange for reporting);
Bogrd, and

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOD |/ 7

=
.I-" III _'_._'_'_F'_'__- i

NGUYEN DUC CUONG



THUAN DUC THE SOCTALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM

JOINT STOCK COMPANY Independence - Freedom - Happiness

No: 03/2025TTr-DHBCD-TDP Hung Yen, April 13, 2025

PROPOSAL TO THE 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
Re: Profit distribution plan for 2024 and Business plan for 2025

_ Pursuant to the Law on Enterprises No, 39/2020/QH 14, passed by the National Assembly
of the Socialist Republic af Vietnam on June 17, 2020, and its puiding documents;

- Pursuant to the Law on Securities No. 34/201 YQHI4, passed by the National Assembly af
the Socialist Republic of Vietnam on November 26, 2019, and its guiding documents;

- Pursuant to the Charter on organization and operation of Thuen Duc Joint Stock
Company;

- The parent company s financial statements and the consolidated financial statements for
2024 of Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company have been audited.

The Board of Directors (BOD) respectfully submits for approval by the 2025 Annual
General Meeting of Sharehelders (AGM) the profit distribution plan and fund allocation for
2024 and the business plan for 20235 as follows:

1. Profit Distribution Plan for 2024

No Description Amount (VND)
1 Consolidated net profit after tax for 2024 §3.017.546.428
2 Parent company s net profit afer tax for 2024 94 69,564,733
3 Fund allocations _
4 Net profit after tax after fund allocations for 2024 93.917.546.428
3 Undistributed profit from previous years .888.505.704
(¥ Total undistributed profit (= 4+5) 100.806.052.132
7 Cash dividend payment at a rate of 5%. 44.111.125.000
8 | Remaining undistributed profit (=6-T) £6.694.927.132 i

The AGM authorizes the BOD to determine the record date for issuing shares as dividends

for 2024, ensuring compliance with legal regulations, the Company's Charter, and the
interests of shareholders.



1. Business Plan for 2025

Based on the 2024 business performance and market conditions, the BOD proposes the
following consolidated business targets for 2025:

- Total revenue: 4.500 billion VND
- Net profit after tax: 98 billion VND
- Expected dividend rate: 5%

The AGM authorizes and assigns the BOD to implement business activities and adjust the
business plan in accordance with market conditions and the Company s operations.

The Board of Directors respectfilly submits this proposal for consideration and approval by
the General Meeting of Shareholders.

Sincerely./.
Recipients:

- Shiveholders (posted on the Company's webaite)! B
-Sharsiwiies Gostl on v Compery 8 SONE oy ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIREj’ijRS

City Stock Exchange, Hanai Stock Exchange {for repertiHg);
- Members of the Board af Directors, Executive Board, amd
Sypervizary Board:

- Arehived ar the Compaay Qffice.




THUAN DUC THE SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM

JOINT STOCK COMPANY Independence - Freedom - Happiness

No.: 04/2025/TTe-DHDCD-TDP Hung Yen, April 13, 2025

PROPOSAL TO THE 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
Re: Remuneration for the Board of Directors and Supervisory Board in 2024 and the

remuneration plan for 2025

_ Pursuant to the Law on Enterprises No. 3%/2020W0H 1 4, passed by the National Assembly
of the Socialist Republic of Vieinam on June 17, 2020, and its guiding documenis;

- Pursuant to the Law on Securities No. 34/201 9/QH14, passed by the National Assembly of
the Socialist Republic of Vietnam on November 26, 2019, and its guiding documents,

_ Pursuant to the Charter on organization and operation of Thuan Duc Joint Stock
Coampany,

- The parent company s financial statements and the consolidated financial statements for
2024 of Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company have been audited.

The Board of Directors (BOD) respectfully submits for approval by the 2025 Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders (AGM) the remuneration for the Board of Directors and
the Supervisory Board in 2024 and the remuneration plan for 2025 as follows:

GOl
1. Remuneration for 2024 and Plan for 2025 W3]
| No. | Position | Quantity Remuneration Quantity | Remuneration ;&;E:
(2024) | (2024) (2025) | Plan (2025) o
1 | Chairman of the BOD 01 20 million 01 20 million
VND'month  VND/month
2 | BOD Member 06 |5 million 06 15 million
VMNDVmonth WNDJ/month
3 | Hend of Supervisory 0l 10 million 01 10 million
Board VND/month VND/month
4 | Deputy Head of 01 08 million - -
Supervisory Beard VND/moath
5 | Supervisory Board 01 05 million 02 10 million
Member VND/month VNDVmonth |

- Total remuneration for the BOD and Supervisory Board in 2024: 1.596.000.000 VND
(One billion five hundred ninety-six million VND).

- Projected remuneration plan for the BOD and Supervisory Board in 2025: 1.560.000.000
WND (One billion five hundred sixty million VIND).




The Board of Directors respectfully submits this proposal for consideration and approval by
the Cieneral Meeting of Shareholders.

Sincerely./.
Recipients:

- Sharcholders (posted on the Company 't wabsite); ON BE
. Srate Seewritiar Commizsion of Fiatnam, Hio Chi Mirh B MEEEE&E{?;W;SJ&RECW -E
City Stock Exchange, Hanol Stock Exchange (for reporting); 2 |

- Members of the Board of Directors, Executive Boand, and e~ f ] e
Supervisary Board; ol i
- Archived at the Company Office,




THUAN DUC THE SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
JOINT STOCK COMPANY Independence - Freedom - Happiness

No: 052025 TTr-DHBCD-TDP Hung Yen, April 13, 2023

PROPOSAL TO THE 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF
SHAREHOLDERS

Re: Amendment and Supplementation of the Charter of Thuan Duc Joint Stock
Company

- Pursuant to the Law on Enterprises No. S9/2020/QHI4 passed by the National
Assembly of the Sociglist Republic of Vietmam on June 17, 2020, and its guiding
dociments;

- Pursuant to the Law on Securities No, 54/2019/QH14 passed by the National Assembly
of the Socialist Republic of Vietnam on November 26, 2019, amd its guiding
documents;

- Pursuant to the Charter of Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company.

The Board of Directors of Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company respectfully submits to the 2025
Anmual General Meeting of Sharcholders for approval the amendment and supplementation of

the Company's Charter as follows:

a. Charter capital regulations under Clanse 1, Article 6 of the Charter before ﬂf

amendment: ,f,
=y ea

Article 6. Charter Capital, Shares, and Founding Shareholders |! | ©
',|.I_' \ TH

1. The charter capital of the Company is VND 802.022.020.000 (Eight hundred two billion HL'::'_:L}

twenty-two million twenty thousand Vietnamese dong). el

The total charter capital is divided into 80.202.202 shares with a par value of VND 10.000 per

share,

b. Charter capital regulations under Clause 1, Article 6 of the Charter after the proposed
amendment:

Article 6. Charter Capital, Shares, and Founding Shareholders

| The charter capital of the Company is VND 882,222.500.000 (Eight hundred eighty-two
billien two hundred twenty-two million five hundred thousand Vietmamese dong).

The total charter capital is divided into 88.222.250 shares with a par value of VND 10,000
per share,

The Board of Dircctors respectfully submits this matter to the General Meeting of
Sharcholders for consideration and approval,

Respectiully.




- Shareholders (pasted on the Comparny s website); ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF ]]IRECI‘IJ’;L

- Stale Sacurinies Commizston af Fieinam, Ho Chi Minh

i Sk Exslaeies, Finct Mool Encharips 153 hepriiagh CHAIRMAN OF THE BOD _/l :
- Members of the Raord of Divectors, Exeeniive Bogrd, and 2

Supernissny Soard:

= Archived af fve Company (ifice,

NGUYEN DUC CUONG




THUAN DUC THE SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
JOINT STOCK COMPANY Independence - Freedom - Happiness

No: 062025/ TTr-BHBCD-TDP Huing Yen, April 13, 2025

FROPOSAL TO THE 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
Re: Approval of the audited financial statements for 2024

- Pursuant to the Law on Enterprises No. 39/2020/QH 14, passed by the National Assembly of
the Socialist Republic of Vietnam on June 17, 2020, and its guiding documents:

- Pursuant to the Law on Securities No. 54/2019/QHI4, passed by the National Assembly af
the Socialist Republic of Vietnam on November 26, 2019, and its guiding documents;

- Pursuant to the Charter on organization and operation of Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company,
- The parent company s financial statements and the consalidated financial statements Jor
2024 of Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company have been audited

1. Content of the cash dividend payment plan:

- Expected dividend rate: 5% of par value (equivalent to VND 500/share, in words: Five
hundred VND per share).

- Total estimated payment amount: VND 44,11 1,125,000 (in words: Forty-four billion, one
hundred eleven million, one hundred twenty-five thousand VNI,

- Payment method: In cash. ey
I

=
L

(i
- Dividend recipients: Existing shareholders listed on the record date provided by the ‘u’iﬁmami'

\ THL
Sceurities Depository and Clearing Corporation (VSDC), :‘}H
o
- Bource of payment: From undistributed after-tax profits of the Company, i

- Form of payment:
+ For deposited shares: Shareholders receive dividends via their depository accounts,

+ For non-deposited shares: Shareholders receive dividends at the Company’s headquarters or
via bank transfer to the account registered with the Company.

- Estimated implementation time: Q3 or Q4 of 2025,

- Tax obligations: Dividends will be subject to personal income tax withholding (if anv) in
accordance with the law hefore distribution.

2. Authorization to the Board of Directors to: (i) Decide the time of dividend payment; (ii)

Determine the !‘&m:nrd date and payment date as per the approved plan: (iii) Prepare the list of
shareholders eligible for dividend, the deadline, and the method of payment; and (iv) Carry out

1




e . L e

necessary tasks and procedures to complete the dividend payment in accordance with the law
and the Company's Charter.

The above is the content of the 2024 cash dividend distribution plan of Thuan Dug Joint Stock

Company. The Board of Directors respectfully submits it to the General Meeting of
Sharcholders for consideration and approval.

Sincerely./.

Recipients:

« Shareholders (posted on the Company s websisg): ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF D R!

- Fiat Beewrlies Commission af Vietnaei, Ho Okl Wink

- Members of the Board of Dirvciors, Executive Board, and /"
Board;

- Arehrived at the Compary Chifice.




JOINT STOCK COMPANY

THUAN DUC THE SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF v_«TNAM

No: 0722025 TTr-BHECD-TDP

Independence - Freedom - Happiness

Hung Yen, April 13, 2025

PROPOSAL TO THE 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
Re: Issuance of Shares 1o Existing Shareholders

- Pursuant to the Law on Enterprises No. 3% 2020/QH 14, passed by the National Assembly af
the Socialist Republic of Vietnam on Jume 17, 2020, and its guiding documents:

- Pursuant to the Law on Securitier No. 542019/ 0H 14, passed by the National Assembly of
the Soctalisi Republic of Vietnam on November 26, 2019, and its guiding documents;

- Pursuant to the Charter on organization and operation of Thuan Duc Joint Stock Comparny:
- Based on the company's production and business activities and its capital requirements.

The Board of Directors of Thuan Due Joint Stock Company respectfully submits to the General
Meeting of Shareholders for consideration and approval of the Plan for Issuance of Shares 1o
Existing Shareholders, with the details as follows:

1.

& ® ® & & &

Plan for Issuance of Shares 1o Existing Shareholders

Mame of issued shares: Thuan Duc Joint Stock
Stock code: TDP

Type of shares: Common shares

Par value of shares: 10,000 VND/share

Company Shares

Total value of outstanding shares at par value: 882,222,500,000 VND (as of the time of
presenting 1o the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders)
Total number of outstanding shares: 88,222 250 shares

Total number of treasury shares: None

Total number of shares to be issued: 22,055,562 shares
Total value to be issued at par value: 220,5 55,620,000 VND

Issuance ratio: 25.0% (Number of shares to be

issued/number of outstanding shares)

Issuance target: Existing sharcholders, mcluding domestic and foreign shareholders listed
on the shareholder list as of the final registration date for exercising the right to purchase

shares

Issuance method: Offering to existing shareholders through the right to

! . urchase method
Exercise ratio: 4:1 (As of the shareholder list cut-off date, each sh?ai;ehﬂ]fier holding ]
share corresponds to | right, and 4 rights are required to purchase 1 new share)

Expected offering price: 15,000 VND/share

Expected amount to be raised from the offering: 330,833,430,000 VND

Basis for determining the offering price:

o Book value per share of the company according to the audited 2024 consolidated

financizal statements: 11,561 VND/share




o Book value per share of the company according to the sudited 2024  ‘ent
company financial statements: 11,444 VND/share

@ Average closing price of TDF shares for the last 60 trading sessions rom
10V01/2025 to 11/04/2025): 33,366 VND/share Based on the develo ment strategy
and capital needs of the company, as well as to encourage sharehold frs to stay
connected and contribute to the company’s development, the offerin ; price is
determined to be 15,000 VIND/shars.

Transfer of purchase rights: Shareholders have the right to transfer their purchase rights to
others at an agreed price between the two parties and may transfer only onee (no transfer to
third partieg],

Sharcholders holding shares that are subject to transfer restrictions (if any) will still receive
the right to purchase shares. The number of shares purchased through this right is not subject
to trensfer restrictions.

Rounding principle: When an existing shareholder exercises their purchase right, to ensure
that the total number of shares offered is not exceeded, the number of shares the shareholder
is entitled 1 purchase will be rounded down to the nearest whole unit. Example:
Shareholder A holds 12,345 shares as of the shareholder list cut-off date for exercising the
right to purchase additional shares, shareholder A will have 12,345 purchase rights and will
be able to buy 12,345 * 1/4 = 3,086.3 shares. After rounding down, shareholder A will
purchase 3,086 shares, The fractional shares will be 0.3 shares. Thercfore, the sharcholder
holding 12,345 shares will be able to buy 3,086 additional shares.

Plan to ensure the foreign ownership ratio is met: The General Meeting of Shareholders
authorizes the Board of Directors to implement measures to ensure the share issuance
complies with foreign ownership ratio regulations. Remaining shares that have not been
allocated (hereinafter referred to as "Remaining Shares™) include: i. Fractional shares
resulting from rounding; ii. The difference in the number of shares between the total number
of shares approved for issuance and the actual number of sharcs issued with the exercise
ratio of 1:4 (if any); ii. Shares remaining due to shareholders not exercising their full
purchase rights or only exercising part of their purchase rights.

Handling of remaining shares: The Board of Directors is autharized to offer the Remaining
Shares 1o other investors at a price not lower than the price offered to existing shareholders
to ensure full issuance of the offered shares, If the distribution period expires according to
the law (including any extensions, if applicable) and the shares remain undistributed, the
remaining shares will be canceled, and the issuance will be concluded. The distribution of
shares not fully offered must comply with the following conditions:

o Comply with the provisions of Article 195 of the 2020 Enterprise Law: "Subsidiaries
are not allowed to invest in purchasing shares or contributing capital to the parent
company. Subsidiaries of the same parent company are not allowed o
simultariecusly invest or purchase shares to hold cross-ownership in each other,”

o Ensure compliance with the conditions for offering shares under Article 42 of
Decree Mo, 155/2020/ND-CP issued by the Government on December 31, 2020,
detailing the implementation of several provisions of the Securities Law and other
relevant legal requirements.

Transfer conditions:

o Shares issued to existing sharcholders through the right to purchase are common
shares and are not subject to transfer restrictions;




s The Remaining Shares, when offered to other parties as decided by the Board of
Directors, will be subject to a transfer restriction for one year from the completion

date of the offering, o
« Expected implementation period for the issuance: Within 2025, after the State Securities
Commission issues a Certificate of Registration for Public Offering for the company. "l:he
General Meeting of Sharcholders authorizes the Board of Directors to decide on the specific

iming.

2. Assessment of Share Dilution

After the public offering is completed, the number of shares in circulation on the market is expect
to increase, and the following dilution risks may occur:

Market Price Dilution

On the ex-rights date (the date when shares can no longer be purchased with the rightz to b
additional shares), the reference price of TDP shares will be adjusted technically. The formula
calculating this is as [ollows:

Pt—1 + PR+IR
Pre —
1+ IR
: 32.000 + 15.000+ 0,25 = 30.455,2VND/share
1+ 025 e
Where:

« Pt-1: 32,000 VND/share (the assumed market price of the stock befors the ex-rights dg ),
» PR: 15,000 VND/share (the assumed offering price to existing sharcholders),

= IR: 0.125 (the capital increase ratio from the issuance of shares to existin
which is calculated as iR

22,035,562 shares issued88,222 250 shares outstanding\frac!22.055.562
issued}} {88,222,250 \text{ shares ng'frac{22,055.562 \text{ shares

outstanding } 188,222 250 shares outstanding?2,055.562 shares issued),
Dilution of Eamings Per Share (EPS)

From an nccounting perspective, eamings = shar
: ! L per share (EPS) = Net profit/ Average num
Eil:slandmg "-‘rtilnm ulf: company issuss additional shares, the number of shamgeiu cimbafatt:ifm mﬁﬁit
rﬂ&se‘.ﬂffec g Earmugapershﬂm.EFSmydﬂreas:Efﬂmpmﬁ wih i than
1 L3 r & I
the capital increase rate (i.e., the increase in the number of shares in c‘lrcuﬁ;m} rate is lower

Dilution of Ownership Percentage and Voting Rights of Existing Shareholdery
AAs the number of shares in circulation increases after the

and voting rights of existing shareh - public offering, the gyepgy;
purchase additional shares, L T Wil decrease if they do not exerpie. tffmnm%ﬂ
ta to

3




3. Plan for the Use of Proceeds from the Capital Increase Share Offering
The expected amount to be raised from the capital inerease issuance is: 330,833,430,001

The proceeds from the offering are expected to be used to repay shori-term loans from  .iks, as

detailed below:
No. | Credit Contract Number | Credit Limit Expected Expected
(VNI Repayment Repayment Period
. Amount (VND)
| O1/2024/3435048HDTD
BIDV Bank — Transactional 900 billion 157,833,430,000 | In 2025 and Q1 2026
Branch 1

. 266657.24.003.4599715.TD

250 billion 63,000,000,000 | In 2025 and Q1 2026
MB Bank — Thanh Xuan Branch

3 2400-LAV-202400957

304 billion 110,000,000,000 | In 2025 and Q1 2026
Agribank ~ Hung Yen Branch

2 Total 330,833,430,000

—

In case some of the loans are repaid before the completion of the offering, the General Meeting
of Shareholders authorizes the Board of Directors to adjust the use of proceeds and arrange the
funds as needed in a flexible and suitable manner.

Plan for Addressing Potential Shortfall in the Expected Capital Raised from the Offering

* Inthe event that the shares are not fully subscribed and the amount raised from the offering
is less than expected, the Company will use the proceeds from the offering according to the
priority order (top-down) as outlined in the use of proceeds plan for the capital increase
offering presented in Section 3 of this Proposal.

* The Board of Directors will decide to rebalance the capital sources and flexibly use other

legal sources of capital to propose a solution that aligns with the Company's actual
operations at the time of utilizing the funds.

4. Registration, Custody, and Additional Listing of the Issued Shares for the Capital
Increase

The General Meeting of Shareholders approves the registration and custody of the entire number
of newly issued shares at the Vietnam Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation, and the
registration for additional listing of all the newly issued shares on the Stock Exchange.

5. Authorization for the Board of Directors




« Select the consulting arganization for the share offering registration;

» Choose the appropriate timing for the offering;

= Approve the plan (o ensure the share offering complies with regulations on foreign
ownership limits;

= Proactively prepare and explain the issuance application to the State Securities
Commission, and adjust the offering plan and related documents as required by the State
Securities Commission and competent authorities;

» Develop and approve a detailed fund usage plan for the capital raised from the offering,
according to the purposes previously approved by the General Meeting of Sharebolders;

= Adjust the capital usage plan and the amount raised from the offering to match the actual
situstion. Adjustments must comply with legal requirements;

= After completing all the issuance-related tasks, avthorize the Board of Directors to amend
and supplement the Company’s Charter and update the business registration related to
changes in charter capital after the offering:

= Perform registration and custody of all newly issucd shares at the Vietnam Securities
Depository and Clearing Corporation and register for additional listing of all newly issued
shares on the Stock Exchange;

* Authorize the Board of Directors to carry out all tasks related to the capital increase offering
in accordance with the Company's Charter and current laws;

» During the implementation of the above tasks, the General Meeting of Sharcholders agrees
to delegate the authority to the Chairman of the Board and/or the CEO 1o carry out the
necessary procedures to complete the share offering in compliance with regulations,

The Board of Directors respectfully presents this for the General Meeting of Shareholders to
consider and vote on.

Sincerely./.

Rec ipienis:

= Sharefolder: o the O v websiie);
el Gt e G il ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTOI

Ciry Stock Exchange, Hanol Siock Exchange (for reporting;
- Members of the Bowrd of Direciors. Execmive Board, and
Suparvisory Soard:

- Archived af the Company (2flee

NGUYEN DUC CUONG




THUAN DUC THE SOCIALIST REPURLIC OF VIETNAM

JOINT STOCK COMPANY Independence - Freedom - Happiness

No.: 0872025/ T Tr-DHBCH-TDP Hung Yen, April 13, 2025

PROPOSAL TO THE 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
Re: Approval of the election of Board of Directors members for the 2025-2030 term.

- Pursuani io the Law on Enterprises No. 59/2020/0H 14, passed by the National Assembly
of the Socialist Republic of Vietnam on June | 7, 2020, and its guiding documents:

- Pursuant to the Law on Securities No, 54/201 YOHI4, passed by the National Assembly of
the Socialist Republic of Viemam on November 26, 2019, and its guiding documents;

- Pursuant to the Charter on organization and operation of Thuan Duc Joint Stock
Comparny;

- The parent company s financial statements and the consolidated Jinancial statements for
2024 of Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company have been audited

Pursuant to the provisions of the Enterprise Law and the Charter on the organization and
operation of the Company, the term of the Board of Directors (BOD) for the 2020-2025
period has ended. To ensure the BOD effectively manages the Company's operations, the
Board of Directors of Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company respectfully submits to the General
Mecting of Shareholders for approval the election of BOD members for the 2025-2030 term
with the following details:

l. Approval of the conclusion of the Board of Directors' term for the 2020-2025
period,
2. Approval of the eleetion of Board of Directors members for the 2025-2030 term.

« The structure of the Company's Board of Directars consists of 07 members.

» The term of the Board of Directors members: From 2025 to 2030,

» The list of qualified candidates nominated by shareholdersithe Board of Directors for
election as Board members for the 2025-2030 term is as follows;

No. | Full name | Date of Address Professional Position,
Birth Qualification Workplace
L | Mr, Nguyen | December | No. 02-10. Vinhomes ghﬂfnimj Chairman of the
Duc Cuong | 16, 1970 | Riverside 2. Viet [S"f;’;'firmd . | Board of
Hung, Long Bien, Plastics} Directors, Thuan
Hanoi Duc Joint Stock
Company




=

Bachelor of |Mcmber of the

Mrs.  Ngo | Aprl 07, | No. 02-10, Vinhomes
Kim Dung | 1972 Riverside 2, Viet Economics | Board of Directors
Hung, Long Bien, cum Deputy
Hanoi General  Director,
Thuan Duc Joint
Stock Company
Mr. Bui | December | CH 4B, 37th Floor, | Bachelorof | Member of the
Quang 8y | 25, 1978 Building 210 Quang Law - Lawyer | Board of Directors
Trung, Quang Trung Cum General
Ward, Ha Dong Director, Thuan
District, Hanoi Due  Joint Stock
Company
Mr.  Tran | June 13, | No. 4,  Collective | Master of Member of the
Dang Duy | 1982 Housing of  the Business Board of Directors
Construction Administration | cum Deputy
Department General Director,
Rehabilitation Station, Thuan Due Joint
Phuc Xa Ward, Ba Stock Company
Dinh District, Hanoi
Mrs. March 12, | No. 02-39, Vinhomes Bachelor of | Member of the
Nguyen 1993 Riverside 2, Vi Economics | Board of
Kim Anh Hung, Long Bien, Directors, Thuan
Hanoi Duc Joint Stock
Company
Mr.  Pham May 18, | Vo Ninh, Quang Ninh Printing Independent
Van Chi 1975 District, Quang Binh Technology | Member of the
Province Engineer | Board of
Directors, Thuan
Due Joint Stock
Company
Mr. Nguven | December Alley 56, 20/08 Street, Mechanical Independent
Van Truong | 26, 1985 Luong Bang Town, Engineerin | Member of the

Kim Dong District,
Hung Yen Province

Transportation | Board of
Directors, Thuan
Duc Joint Stock
Company




The Board of Directors respectfully submits to the General Meeting of Shareholders for
review and approval.
Sincerely./.
Recipients:
. Shareholders (posted on the Company 's websitel; ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTO
- Srome Securities Commnizsion of Fietnam, Ho Chi Minh EHA[EL‘IAN OF THE BOD )ﬂ

Ciry Stock Exchange, Hanol Stock Exchange (for reportingl;
- Members of the Board of Directors, Execwtive Board, and

Supervirory Board; e o
= drehived ot the Company Cifice. .':-’_’"-’ E{jN'L'i Ty 1; -
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THUAN DUC THE SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
JOINT STOCK COMPANY Independence - Freedom - Happiness
No.: 092025 TTr-DHDCB-TDP Hung Yen, April 13, 2025

PROPOSAL TO THE 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
Re: Approval of the election of the Supervisory Board members for the 2025 - 2030 term,

- Pursuant fo the Law on Enterprises No. 59/2020/QH14, passed by the National Assembly
of the Socialist Republic of Vietnam on June 17, 2020, and its guiding documentis;

_ Pursuant to the Lew on Securities No. 54/2019/QH14, passed by the National Assembly of
the Socialist Republic of Vietnam on November 26, 2019, and its guiding documerits;

_ Pursuant to the Charter on erganization and operation of Thuean Due Joint Siock
Comparny,

- The parent company's financial statements and the consolidated financial starements Jor
2024 of Thuan Due Joint Stack Company have been audited,

In accordance with the provisions of the Enterprise Law and the Company's Charier on
organization and operation, the term of the Supervisory Board (SB) for 2020 — 2025 has
ended, To cnsure the SB effectively performs its oversight and supervisory duties over the
Company's operations, the Board of Directors of Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company
respectfully submits to the General Meeting of Shareholders for approval the election of SB -

members for the 2025 — 2030 term with the following details: /fi_ﬁﬂ-
co
I. Approval of the conclusion of the term of the Company's Supervisory Board for 2020 41[ ch

2025, i* 5
2. Approval of the clection of members of the Company's Supervisory Board for the 2025 llll\ ,THL
2030 term: R\fiﬁ
o The structure of the Company's Supervisory Board: 03 members;
= Term of office for SB members: From 2025 to 203(0;
o List of qualified candidates nominated by shareholders/the Board of Directors for
election as SB members for the 2025 — 2030 term is as follows;

No. | Full name | Date of Address Professional Position,
Birth Qualification Workplace
1 | Mr. Bui December | Duc Hop Commune, | Bachelor of Head of the Audit
Huy Hoang | 20, 1994 | Kim Dong District, | Economics Committee and
Hung Yen Province | (Major in Head of the
Auditing and Supervisory Board
Corporate at Thuan Due Joint
Finance) Stock Company




|-1 Mrs Do Thi | June 28, | No. 24, Hoa Qua Bachelor of | Deputy Head of
Hong Tu 1984 Collective, An Tao| Economics Capital Resources
Ward, Hung Yen Committee at
City, Hung Yen Thuan Duc Joint

Province Stock Company
3 | Mrs Duong | February | Van Tuong Hamlet, Master of Specialist of the
Thi Thu | 13, 1985 | Bao Khe Commune, Accounting Internal Audit
Hoai Hung Yen City, Department, Thuan
Hung Yen Province Duc  Joint  Stock

Company

The Board of Directors respectfully submits to the General Meeting of Shareholders for
review and approval.

Sincerely./.

Recipients:

- Shareholders {posted on the Company s website); ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIR RS
. State Securities Commission o Vietnarn, Ho Chi Mith

City Stock Exchange, Haroi Steck Exchange {for reportingh; e L /{
- Mentbers af the Board of Directors, Execulive Board, and e e
Supervisory Poard; o =—
- Archived ai the Company Office. f=f =
| # l
kl'-
L
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THUAN DUC JOINT STOCK COMPANY  SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
Independence — Freedom — Happiness

Hung Yen, April 13, 2025
To: - Esteemed Delegates
- Respected Shareholders
PRODUCTION AND BUSINESS RESULTS REPORT FOR 2024
AND PRODUCTION & BUSINESS PLAN FOR 2025

—  Pursuani to the Charter an Organizaiion and Cperation af Thuan Due Toint Stock Company;
—  Pursuant to the Company 's audited financial siatements Jor 1024,

I. CHARACTERISTICS OF PRODU CTION AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2024
L Difficulties and Advantages

. Difficulties:

= Inflation and exchange rate fluctuations: Global inflationary pressures and exchange rate volatility
may affect the cost of imported raw materials and the final product price,

Supply chain disruptions: Complex geopolitical conditions and force majeure factors have caused
disruptions in the supply chain for in put materials.

- [Increasing competition: The participation of numerous domestic and interational companies in the
packaging and bag man ufacturing sector has intensified competition in terms of pricing and product
quality.

- Rising logistics costs: High sea freight retes and other logistics costs continue to affect export
profitability,

- Stricter standards for quality and sustainability: Export markets are placing greater emphasis on
product quality, safety, and environmental protection, requiring companies to invest and adapt
eceordingly,

Decreasing local labor supply: Compared to previous vears, local labor availability has declined while

recruitment demand s rising, leading to intense competition for labar among companics in the region,

global economic growth, affectin £ the purchasing power of EXpOI markets.

- {lobal inflation and monetary tightening policies: Hi gh inflation in many countriss and tighter
monetary policies have reduced consumer spending.

- Geopolitical Risks and Trade Conflicts: Geopalitical tensions and trade conflicts between countries
can cause instability in the global supply chain and affect ex port activities,

- Raw Material Price Volatility: The price of oil and other raw materials can fluctuate unpredictab)y,
impacting production costs.




Trade Barriers and Protectionism: Some countries tend 1o increase protectionist trade measures,
making it harder for businesses to export.

b. Opportunities:

2,

Strong Export Growth: Vietnam's plastic export turnover in 2024 is cxpecied o reach about USD 6.57
billion, an increase of approximately 26,8% compared to 2023. In the first nine maonths of 2024, plastic
raw material imports reached about 6,08 million lons, equivalent to nearly USD 8,47 billion, with a
12% increase in volume and 18% increase in value compared to the same period in 2023, The total
revenue of the plastic industry in 2024 is expected Lo reach epproximately USD 31 billion, up around
23,9% from 2023.

Stable Economic Growth: Despite external challenges, Vietnam's economy continues to maintain g
positive growth trajectory, providing a solid foundation for both domestic consumption and exports,
Deep Economic Integration: Free Trade Agreements (FTAs) continue to open up international market
access, reduce tariff barriers, and create competitive advantages for Vietnamese goods,

Stable Foreign Dircct Investment (FD): FDI inflows into Vietnam remain steady, helping to enhance
production capacity and technology,

Government Support for Businesses: The BOvemment continues to implement policies to supporl
Businesses through tax relief, credit, and administrative procedures, facilitating smoother production
and export operations.

Rising Domestic Consumer Demand: The recovery of the cconomy and rising income levels are
boosting demand for packaging and bags, especially in the retail and supermarket sectors.

Global Consumer Demand Recovery (region-dependent): While regional differences exist, global
consumer demand is generally showing signs of recovery after disruptions, providing export
opportunities.

Trend Toward Eco-Friendly Packaging: Growing global awareness of environmental protection is
driving the demand for recycled PP packaging and eco-friendly bags, aligning.

Growth of E-commerce: The rapid growth of e-commetce has created a significant demand for
packaging and shipping materials.

Internal Factors: The Company’s leadership has been responsive and flexible, working in conjunction
with the tireless efforts of all emplovees who consistently demonstrate a high sense of respansibility,
initiative, and teamwork. In addition, the close direction from the Chairman of the Board of Directors,
alongside continuous implementation of improvement and innovation measures, has enhanced labor
productivity and optimized the use of machinery and equipment. The deployment of the 55 method,
along with workplace environment improvements at each department, prioritization of automation,
and acceleration of digital transformation, has brought significant results, further strengthening the
Company’s competitiveness with the company's development goals.

Key Issues Focused on in 2024;

a. Digital Transformation:

- Results: Several management software systems have been implemented and are now in use in
areas such as warehouse management, production management, and sales management. Initi
data collection and analysis have been conducted to make more informed business decisions,




~  Issues: The implementation process encountered challenges in inlegrating existing svstems and
training users. Continued investment and improvement of technological infrastructure arg
necded.

b. Streamlining the Organizational Structure:

- The organizational structure in some departments has been reviewed and optimized, reducing
duplicated positions and improving individual work efficiency.

- Further evaluation and flexible adjustments to the organizational structure are required to alipn
with the company’s development. Stability and employee morale should be ensured during the
restructuring process.

4. Continuous Improvement {(Kaizen):

- Kaizen activities have been implemented in various production departmens, helping to improve
workflows, reduce waste, and enhance product quality,

- A broader Kaizen culture needs to he established throughout the COmpany, encouraging
employee participation and creatin £ a system 10 record and evaluate improvement jdeas.

4. Lean Management:

- Results: Some lean management principles have been applied in production end supply chain
management, helping reduce waiting times, optimize workflow, and reduce inventory levels.

- Issues: Continued training and broader application of lean management tools and methods are
needed across all company operations,

5. Business:

- In 2024, the company continues to focus on product and customer diversification sirategies. The
“ompany not only expands its product range but also diversifies within each product line to
precisely meet customer needs, This allows Thuiin Biic to strengthen its market position through
product quality and flexibility,

- New product lines have been researched and developed to meet diverse market demands and
expand the customer hase.

— Continued investment in research and development (R&D) is necessary to create high-value
products that meet new market trends,

- The company has successful] ¥ penctrated new export markets, reducing dependency on traditional
markets,

— Continued research and evaluation of new market potentials are needed, along with building
suitable market entry strategies and investing in intemational marketing activities,

= The company has increased its business operations in new and under-explored domestic areas,

- In addition to maintaining relationships with loyal customers, 2024 has see asignificant increase
m the number of new and large customers in both domestic and international markets, leading to
increased sales volumes,

6. Digital Transformation and Marketing:




- Following the directives from the Board of Di
supplicrs, developed management software s
implemented, achieving effective

accounting, and human resources.

= In 2024, the company will continue its media commun
slots on both VOV Hanoi and Ho Chi Minh City. Add
updated signage for first-level distributors with its bra
large advertising signs at key highway interchanges s
(QL 5B), Phap Van — Cau Gie Expressway (QL
brand vizibility and promote the slogen “BAO Bl
- The company is recruiting marketing specialists to enhanee onlin
as Facebook, Google, and Zalo, and to develop online sales chan

trends,

- In 2024, Thuan Duc continues to maintain its position as
in the plastic packaging industry. Notably, the com
and Top 10 Best Workplaces in Vietham in the

Investment Newspaper and Viet Research.

7. Key Achievements as of December 31, 2024:

a. Revenue and Profit (Consolidated Report):

LA PHAI BEPT

rectors, the |IT department, in collaboration with
ystems, These systems have been successfully
applications in greas such as production, business, Anance,

ication through VIOV Traffic at prime time
itionally, the company has maintained and
nd identity. The company has also installed
uch as the Hanoi — Hai Phong Expressway
1A), and the Co Linh intersection to increase
(Packaging Must Be Beautiful).
¢ advertising on platforms such
nels in line with future consumer

the 2nd most trusted packaging company
pany was honored at the Top 500 Employers
plastic packaging indusiry, as published by the

Indicator Actual 2023 | 2024 Plan | Actual 2024 Achievement | Growth from
(Billion (Rillion (Billion Rate (%) 2023 (%)
VND}) VND) VND)
Taotal Sales 31.819.7 3.888.0 4.379.1 112,63% 14,64%
Fevenue
Profit Before Tax 70,5 | 14,9 128.7 111,98% 82.45%
| Profit After Tax 423 78,0 93,9 120,41% 121,800
b. Assets and Equity:
Item Unit 31/12/2023 | 31/1212024 | Growth from 2023 (%)
Total Assets Billion VND 36712 3.943.9 7%
Owner's Equity | Billion VND |  856,1 1.019% | | 9
8. Key Achievements in 2024:

4. Labor and Average Income:

= Total workforce in 2024: 1.650 employees.

- Employment: The company ensures stable em
- Average income: VND 12.5 million/month, Com

represents a 5, 49% increase,

b. Management and Resource Efficiency (Materials and Electricity):

ployment for all employees in the Thuan Due Group,
pared to the average income in 2023, this
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~ The central materials warchouse has been optimized to reduce costs and improve managemen
effectivencss, Production materials are carefully monitored, used efficiently, and inventory checks
are conducted monthly according to regulations.
In collaboration with energy auditing consultants, the company has been managing electricity
consumption effectively, contributing significantly to production cost reduction.

¢, Emplovee Welfare:

- The company continuously improves the quality of meals provided to employees, ensuring a
balanced diet with milk and vitamin C, while also upgrading the working environment, Employee
leisure trips and community-building activities are organized regularly,

- Periodic health checks are organized, and agreements have been signed with local clinics for
medical care. The company also provides 24-hour insurance for all employess.

d. Environmental Compliance and Customer Standards:

- Administrative procedures related to environmental management are followed, and 150 standards
are applied in environmental management. Periodic environmental monitoring and workplace
safety checks arc conducted. Waste sorting at source is regulated at each factory, with hazardous
waste being transferred to licensed units for disposal.

- The company maintains compliance with SO 9001:2015. SO 1400] 12015, and social
responsibility standards like BSCI, GRS, and SEDEX. In 2024, the company achieved 1S0 22301
certification, enhancing business continuity management and disaster recovery capabilities.

¢. Safety and Fire Prevention:

- The management team regularly inspects safety protocols, provides workers with proper personal
protective equipment, and collaborates with consultants to assess warkplace risks. Regular safety
drills and the establishment of fire protection measures ensure worker safery.

- Thecompany has equipped the entire facility with a surveillance camera system, ensuring security
and adherence to regulations, Regular fire drills and the availability of fire trueks ensure a quick
response to fire risks.

f. Creative Improvements in Production:

- Creative improvements have been adopted as a guiding principle throu ghout the system, with the
Technology Depariment responsible for monitoring and coordinating implementation. Several
machinery and equipment lines have been improved to increase efficiency, reduce processing time,
and optimize manpower in departments such as cou nting, packaging, and the fiber and coaling
workshops.

II. REPORT ON SYSTEM PERFORMANCE

In 2024, the results mentioned above were achieved thanks to the active operation and relentless efforts
of all departments and factories across the system,



I. Recycling Department — Recycled Plastic Resin Sector

For over 18 years, recycled plastic resin has played a crucial role in providing raw materials for Thudn
Birc’s products. In the face of fluctuations in raw material prices, ensuring a stable input source has
become a key factor in the company’s business operations.

The global trend toward using recycled materials has created a significant competitive advantage for
the products of this department. The supply of recycled materials has become more stable over time.
However, there are still some challenges, such as: high initial investment costs for recycling technology,
ensuring the quality and stability of recycled materials, and building brand recognition for recveled
products,

Z. PP Weaving Department — Domestic Packaging Sector

Continuous growth and diversification in the consumer base for PP packaging products have been key
highlights in 2024. After adding new machinery, combined with technology improvements and
averhauling old equipment, the company has increased iis capacity to handle large orders and meet market
demand in terms of quantity,

Given the stable domestic and export market demand for traditional PF woven packaging, the company
has diversified its woven packaging products to include regular bags and laminated bags (photo bags).
This approach ensures thet Thuin Dac’s PP packaging products have a competitive edge in the ind ustry
and reinforce its leading position in the PP packaging sector,

Despite the above-mentioned advantages, the department also faces challen ges, including: price
pressures and  competition from  substitute products, increasingly high requirements for product
functionality and durability, and fluctuations in the price of PP resin,

3, Export Bag Department — Shopping Bag Sector (PF Woven and Nom-Woven)

This product is internationally recognized as an environmentally friendly alternative, gradually
replacing products made from PE or non-biodegradable materials. In 2024, the company completed the
imstailation of additional machinery and moved production to a larger factory, The new factory has also
invested in a smart warehouse system to improve efficiency and accuracy in goods storage and movement.

The company continues to focus on exploiting the domestic merket for non-woven PP bags to meet
customer needs. Non-woven PP products are not only used for shopping bags but also to supply medical
products like face masks and protective clothing.

Thuanduc’s non-woven products are highly regarded for quality and meet most customer needs. The
company continues to make improvements, shortening production times and enhancin £ product quality as

required by customers, complying with standards to obtain customer certifications, and categorizing
products for appropriate production methods,

o Advantages:

= The export bag market remains stable with signs of growth in some new markets.
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- The demand for non-woven PP products for the medical ndustry and other industrial applications
remains sieady,

- Product and market diversification has helped mitigate concentration risks,

- Products are praised by customers for their environmental friendliness.

o Challenges:

- Price competition from competitors in countries with lower production costs,
= Inereasingly higher quality and design requirements from demanding markets,
Fluctuations in orders and urgent delivery requests from customers.

4. Technology Department — Machinery and Equipment Sector

Since its establishment, the Technology Department has consistently performed well in the creatjve
and improvement efforts for Thuandue’s mechinery and technology lines. Many new technology
applications have improved product quality and reduced proeduction costs.

With the principle of auteration to reduce labor and enhance productivity, numerous inventions,
mnovations, and improvements have been made in this department, bringing significant production
efficiency. The maintenance and repair of machinery are performed systematically and method ically.

3. Services Department:
o Advantages:

- Streamlining the organization and applying lean management has enhanced operational efficiency
and reduced waste.
—  Work processes have been improved, increasing cooperation amon g departments.

& Challenges:

- Changing employees' mindsets and work habits to adapt to new management methods,
- Ensuring consistency and effectiveness in implementin & Kaizen across the company,

IL GOALS AND OPERATIONAL PLAN FOR 2025

Based on the results achieved in 2024, the analysis of markst trends, and internal issues, the company sets
the following goals and plans for 2025:

1. General Goals:

- Continue maintaining sustainable growth: Aim for a 12% revenue Increase compared to 2024,

~  Improve operational efficiency: Optimize production costs, logistics, and management.

- Strengthen competitive position: Enhance product and service quality, and build a reputable brand.

= Develop sustainably: Prioritize environmentally friendly production activities and the use of recycled
materials.

Tes il
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2. Key Targets for 2025:

a. Production and Consumption Targets:

Indicator Production Volume Sales Volume

| Recycled plastic pellets (tons) 23.260 22.940

PF fabric (tons) 28.581 28.751

PP packaging (tons) - 17440 17.000

shopping bags (bags) 171110000 167.875.000

b, Consolidated Business Targets for 2025:
Indicator Unit 2025 Target

1. Sales Revenue Billion VMND . 5000

2. Pre-tax Profit_ Billion VND 1350
Corporate Tax Billion YND 36,5
3. After-tax Profit Billion VND a%

1. Specific Goals by Department:
1. Export Bag and Non-YWoven PP Department:

- Increase export revenue by 50%.
- Expand to new export markets.

- Develop new bag designs with improved features.

~  Maintain a stable order ratio for non-woven PP and seek opportunities for expansion.

kPP Wenving Department:

— Achieve 30% revenue growth, focusing on high-value-added products.
= Research and apply new technologies to improve product functionality and durability.

— Expand domestic distribution channels.

c.  Recveling Departmemnt:

= [Increase production by compleling new investments.

- Upgrade recycling technology o improve raw material quality and reduce costs,
- Build strategic partnerships with stable recycled material suppliers.

- Boost marketing activities to promote recycled products,

d. Technology and IT Department:

- Research and apply new technologies in production (e.g., automation, robatics).
- Improve maintenance and repair processes.

- Finalize and integrate management sofiware implemented in 2024,

- Enhance data analysis capabilities to support business decisions.

- Ensure IT system security and data protection.




e.  Services Department:

- Continue streamlining the organization, aiming for a 5% reduction in managemeant costs,
- Roll out Kaizen culture across the company, encouraging employees to contribute at least
two improvement ideas annually,

- Improve supply chain and logistics management.
- Invest in training and developing emplovee capabilities.

4. Key Focus Areas for 2025;

a. Comprehensive Digital Transformation:

= Develop a detailed digital transformation roadmap for each department.
Invest in more integrated and smarter technology solutions,
— Enhance digital capahilities for all employees,

b, Sustainable Development and Circular Economy:

- Increase the use of recycled materials in production,
— Research and apply environmentally friendly production processes.
- Participate in sustainability programs and certifications.

c. Enhance International Competitiveness:

- Thoroughly study the standards end regulations of export markets,
- Invest in product design and quality to meet sirict requirements.
- Build effective marketing and sales strategies for each market,

d. Develop High-Quality Human Resonrees:

- Aftract and retain talent.
- Invest in professional and soft skills training for employees.
- Build a professional and cohesive working environment.

IV. RECOMMENDATIONS:

To achieve the sel goals for 2025, the Board of Directors should:

b S

Approve and issue detailed action plans for each goal and department,

Allocate resources effectively (finance, personnel, technology),

Regularly monitor and assess the progress of the plan’s implementation.

Be flexible in adjusting the plan in response to market changes or internal challenges.
Strengthen coardination and information exchange umong departments.

Communicate the goals and plans to all employees to foster consensus and eommitment.



V. CONCLUSION:

The success achieved is attributed to the dedication of the factory management team, who have
worked tirelessly, staying close to their tasks, and continually improving their skills, creativity, and
technology to enhance production efficiency. Additionally, the leadership and guidance of the Chairman
of the Board of Directors have heen instrumental in steering the company’s operations.

With the results achieved, we are confident in leveraging our experience and seizing opportunities
to improve productivily, quality, and management efficiency. We also seek continued support from
sharcholders, the Boerd of Directors, and the Supervisory Board to fulfill our mission.

The management team believes that with thorough preparation, proactive spirit, and the solidarity
of all employees, the company will achieve remarkable success in 2075, continuing to strengthen its
market position and sustainable development.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, T would like to wish al] guests, members of the Board of
Directors, shareholders, and the entire conference a strong, happy, and successful vear!

Sincerely!

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF GENERAL DIRECTORS

BUI EI-.IﬁHG SY

10

o




THUAN DUC JOINT STOCK COMPANY SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
No.: 02/BC - AGM.2025 Independence — Freedom — Happiness
Hung Yen, April 13, 2025
REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
To: The General Meeting of Shareholders of Thuan Due Joint Stock Company

Dear Esteemed Delegates and Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (BOD) of Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company, I would like to
extend a warm welcome and sincere thanks to all esteemed Delegates and Shareholders for takin E
the time to attend our 2024 Annual General Meeting.

Dear Shareholders,

The Beard of Dircctors would like to present the report on the activities of 2024 and the orientation
plan for 2025, including the following main contents:

1. Evaluation of the Company’s activities in 2024
2. Corporate governance activities by the BOD in 2024
3. Operation plan and direction for 2025

Deetails are as follows:

I. Evaluation of the Company's Activities in 2024

e Y

In 2024, the global and domestic economy faced complex challenges, including climate change,
unusual natural disasters, strategic competition among major powers, increasing inflation, and the %
slow recovery of major trade partners. These factors significantly affected many industries,

especially businesses involved in import-export such as Thuan Duc.

However, through unity and determination across the leadership and staff, based on a circular
production model and flexible market structure, Thuan Duc successfully responded to these
challenges and achieved notable accomplishments:

Business Results in 2024;:

= Parent company revenue: VNI 3.838.4 billion




* FParent company net profit after tax: VND 94,1 billion
» Consolidated revenue: VND 4.379.1 billion
* Consolidated net profit after tax: VIND 939 hillion

Contribution to the State Budget:

The Company fulfilled its obligation to the state budget in 2024 with a total contribution of over
VNI 32,9 billion.

These achievements are the result of multiple contributing factors, including the dedicated and
Mexible leadership of the Chairman of the BOD, the effective management of the Board of
Directors and Executive Board, and the trust and support from financial institutions and
shareholders.

» Leadership role: The Chairmen of the BOD demonstrated dedication, foresight, and
Hexibility, leading the Company to overcome economic turbulence and exceed plannad
largets,

» Exemplary responsibility: The Chairman acted as a role model. maintaining discipline
and accountability, continuously updating market trends to guide the Executive Board and
Plant Directors effectively.

+ Efficient management: The Exccutive Board and Plant Directors responded flexibly and
in line with BOD directions. Their detailed implementation and timely reporting fostered
confidence among partners, customers, and sharcholders.

« Trust and collaboration: The BOD belicves that with the leadership’s firm vet flexible
approach, the Company will continue to stabilize operations and enter new, more
demanding markets both domestically and internationally.

+ Credit relations: In 2024, Thuan Duc maintained stable and effective relationships with
credit institutions, facilitating business expansion. This demonstrates the trust of domestic
and mternational financial institutions in the Company.

« Solid foundation: The close cooperation among management levels, shareholders, and
financial partners established a strong foundation for affirming Thuan Duc's position in the
packaging market.

2. Corporate Governance Activities by the BOD in 2024

In 2024, the BOD held 13 meetings and made several key decisions to effectively govern the
Company. Highlights include:



» Public offering of shares and announcement of final registration date for rights issuance
« Organization of the 2024 AGM

» Decision on the extension of registration and payment for publicly offered bonds
= Approval of public bond offering results

« Redistribution of unsubseribed shares from the rights issue

» Amendment of bond fund usage plan

» Approval of rights issue results

» Seeking bondholders® opinions for bond code TDPH232600]

«  Approval of additional collateral assets

« Implementation of stock dividend payment for 2023

= Acquisition of shares from sharcholder Nguyen Duc Cuong at Thuan Duc JB JSC
» Selection of audit firm for 2024 financial statements

= Reappointment of Chief Accountant — Ms, Dao Thi Nga

Under the Chairman’s leadership, the BOD proactively adjusted business operations to align with
market developments, ensuring effective performance and protection of sharcholder interests,

The BOD approved the 2024 business plan and presented it at the AGM on April 14, 2024, It
closely monitored the Company's performance, supervised the Executive Board, and urged
fulfillment of approved targets.

3. Operation Plan and Direction for 2025

Given ongoing global and domestic economic uncertainties, the BOD will continue fostering unity
and collective strength to make strategic decisions, striving to meet the 2025 targets approved by
the AGM. Foeus areas inelude:

« Direct and supervise the implementation of the 2025 business plan; operate flexibly and
promptly to achieve set goals.

« Complete installation of machinery, optimize workshop arrangements between Plant 2 and
Plant 4, and fully utilize workshop capacity at Plant 4.

» Emphasize product quality management and invest in advanced production technology,
stnctly following technical procedures o meel inereasing customer demands.

« Strengthen risk management, improve corporate govermnance, and promote technical
innovation and IT application to enhance productivity and decision-making efficiency.

« Maintain transparent and timely nformation disclosure in accordance with legal
regulations.
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* Enhance employee well-being and working conditions, creating a motivating, creative, and
committed work environment.

This report summarizes the BOD's activities in 2024 and outlines the operational direction for
2025, We respectfully submit it to the General Meeting of Shareholders for consideration and
approval.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, 1 extend my sincere wishes for health, happiness, and
prosperity 1o all esteemed Sharehalders,

Wishing the AGM great success!

(N BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS =
g D OF DIRECTORS [F-
o :
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THUAN DUC THE SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM

JUINT STOCK COMPANY Independence - Freedom - Happiness

No: 03/2025/BC-DHBCE 2025 Hung Yen, April 13, 2025

INDEFPENDENT BOARD MEMBER'S ASSESSMENT REPORT 2024
To: General Meeting of Shareholders of Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company

Regarding the assessment of the Board of Directors (BOD) activities in 2024, on behalf of the
independent board members, | have the following general observations:

The BOD has worked with a high sense of responsibility and transparency in corporate governance,
strictly complying with the regulations of a public company. The BOD meetings were convened in a
timely manner and conducted in accordance with the procedurcs stipulated in the Company's Charter
and Internal Governance Regulations. The meeting agendas were thoroughly discussed, objectively
evaluated, and comprehensively reviewed by the BOD members to address eritical issues and provide
timely directions and solutions for the Company's best interests.

All resolutions at the BOD meetings were passed by majority voie, with meeting minutes duly signed
by the secretary and the chairman and archived at the Company's office,

1. Bod Structure

The BOD of Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company for the 2020 — 2025 term consists of 07 members,
including 02 independent board members, In 2024, all BOD members fully participated in the meetings
and actively contributed to strategic planning and compliance oversight of the Company.

2. Activities of Independent Board Members in 2024

In 2024, independent beard members attended all 13/13 BOD meetings {100% attendance rate), They
reviewed, provided opinions, and voted on issues within their authority, with a 100%% approval rate on
matters passed by the BOD.

Additionally, independent board members performed their supervisory duties over the BOD through
meetings and discussions while monitoring the Executive Board's implementation of BOD Resolutions.
Specific activities included:

* Supervising and inspecting compliance with laws, the Company's Charter, internal governance
regulations, and the implementation of resolutions from the General Meeting of Shareholders
(GMS), BOD, and the Executive Board.

» Reporting to shareholders at the Annual GMS on their activities and supervision results for
2024.

« Attending periodic and extraordinary BOD meetings and providing independent opinions and
counter-arguments on matters presented.

* Monitoring financial performance and overseeing the preparation and disclosure of periodic
financial statements (quarterly, semi-annual, and annual) in compliance with applicable laws.



» Maintaining effective collaboration with other BOD members, the Executive Board, and the

Company's management. The independent board members highly appreciate the cooperation
and support from relevant parties throughout 2024,

3. Corporate Governance and Supervision Results

« Overall, the BOD has effectively performed its role in implementing plans, policies, and
strategies set by the GMS.

» The BOD hes adhered to corporate govemnance regulations, convening periodic and
extrzordinary meetings to provide timely guidance and make decisions aligned with the
Company's actual situation.

= The BOD has fulfilled its responsibilities in directing and supervising the Executive Board 1o
ensure compliance with laws while balancing the interests of the Company and shareholders,

« BOD members holding executive positions actively participated in periodic and extraordinary
Executive Board meetings. Critical decisions made by the Executive Board were thoroughly

analyzed, evaluated, and consulted with BOD members/Chairman to safeguard the Company's
interests.

» The BOD members proactively identified their supportive role towards the Executive Board,
sharing governance expertize and engaging in professional discussions.

This report summarizes the activities of independent board members in 2024,

Respectfully submitted to the Shareholders for review and approval.

INDEPENDENT BOARD MEMBER

NGUYEN VAN TRUONG




THUAN DUC SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
JOINT STOCK COMPANY Independence — Freedom — Happiness

No.: 04/ BC - DPHCD.2025 Hung Yen, April 13, 2025

ANNUAL SUPERVISORY BOARD REPORT
Courtesy: General Meeting of Shareholders of Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company

= Pursuant to the Law on Enterprises No. $9/2020/QH 14, the Law on Securities
54/2019/QH14;

- Pursugnt to the operation charter of Thuan Due Joint Stock Company;

- Pursuent to the resolution of the 2024 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders;

- Pursuant to the 2024 sudited financial statements:

- Bascd on the Company 's production and business activities in 2024.

The report of the Supervisory Board at the 2025 annual general meeting of shareholders
includes the following contents.

I. OVERVIEW OF THE OPERATION OF THE CONTROL BOARD
¢ Personnel structure: Maintain 03 members for the 2020-2025 term, ensuring independence
and expertise,

& Supervision activities: Monitoring the compliance with the Resolution of the General
Meeting of Shareholders, the Law on Enterprises, the Law on Securities, information
disclosure & related transactions. Attend all meetings of the Board of Dircctors,
independently evaluate the contents presented by the Board of Directors/Executive Board,

Checking and supervising the list of shareholders, ensuring that shareholders transact with
the company to avoid personal interests and conflicts of interest between shareholders, the Board
of Directors, and the Board of Directors.
The Supervisory Board has held periodic and iregular meetings to assign and implement
tasks during the year. The content of the meetings is related to:
(i) Quarterly meeting to evaluate the implementation of the activities of the
Supervisory Board and the plan to implement the tasks of the next quarter.

(ii)  Orientation for the control of the preparation of financial statements and approval
of the annual audit plan; advising the Board of Directors on selecting a unit 1o
perform an independent audit In 2024,

(iify The meeting evaluated the personnel of the Supervisory Board and made

adjustments to the work and assignment of personnel work.




IL EVALUATION OF THE ACTIVITIES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
AND THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The activities of the Board of Directors comply with the Charier, have transparent minutes and
resolutions. and ensure the rights of shareholders.

The implementation of the Proposals to the 2024 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders is
fully implemented and in accordance with the process.

Transactions with partners and related parties have full information disclosure.

Regarding the personnel of the Board of Directors, the Board of Directors in the yesr has kept
all positions and personnel stable, has not proposed and appointed more members in the
operational structure in 2024, Currently, the Board of Directors has ensured the independence
of the members of the Board of Directors and the ability to operate at legal entities and projects
that Thuan Duc is implementing,.

After reviewing the resolutions of the General Meeting of Shareholders and the minutes of
resolutions of the Board of Directors and the Board of Directors, the Supervisory Board agrees
with the 2024 report of the Board of Directors and the Board of Directors approved before the
General Meeting of Shareholders, the business financial plans set for 2025 are appropriate.

I1I. FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE MONITORING & REGULATORY
COMPLIANCE

» The separate and consolidated financial statements for 2024 are audited by E&Y Vietnam
Co.. Lid., with a full acceptance opinion, Together with the independent audit unit, we have
resolved and proposed many risk issues to the Hoard of Dircclors and the Board of
Directors.

e Profit in 2024 will reach VND 93.9 billion, paying a dividend of 10% according to the
approved resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders.

e Total remuneration of the Board of Directors and Supervisory Board in 2024; VHD 1,596
million has been implemented according to the report announced at the 2024 Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders.

¢ The Board of Directors of the Company has well implemented the strategies set out for
production and business, construction investment; ensuring profits in accordance with the
current market situation and operation scale, setting up funds in accordance with
regulations. No material violations were detected and the information disclosed in
accordance with regulations.

« The Board of Directors and the Board of Directors of the company have complied with the
corporate law and relevant regulations in public company governance and updated current
legal regulations. Publicize information, fulfill financial obligations to the state in
accordance with regulations,




IV. ASSESSMENT OF CHALLENGES & RECOMMENDATIONS FOR 20235

The economic context of 2024 — early 2025 has many fluctuations: Raw material prices
fluctuate, the supply of essential input materials for production is narrowing, financial costs
will continue to increase, international consumption tends te slow down when encountering
maore barriers, ete personnel difficulties are still ongoing.

The Supervisory Board proposed thet the Board of Directors and shareholders of the
company be cautious in strategic planning, set expectations for business growth targets,
dividend payment policies. At the same time, review the current financial structure, the
ability to finance loans and the feasible peactical cash flow plan of new investment projects
under control.

Strengthen risk management, including risks encountered in operations, financial risks,
macro risks in the industry and the economy when the scale of enterprises reaches a large
position in the industry.

Review and evaluate overall personnel policies and regimes for employees, including
directly and indirectly at operational departments, ensuring smooth and seamless linkage in
operation,

Dear Congress!

The above is the report of the Supervisory Board. Respectfully submit to the General Meeting of
Shareholders for consideration and approval.

| wish all sharcholders and delegates attending the General Meeting heaith, happiness and

success./.
Thank you very much!
SUPERVISORY BOARD
ﬂi-—ﬂ"f
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JOINT STOCK COMPANY SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM

THUN DUC Independence — Freedom — Happiness

No. 1304/2025/BC-DHECE-TDP Hung Yen, April 13, 2025

REPORT OF THE 2024 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF
SHAREHOLDERS

Ete: Transaction Contracts of Thuan Due Joint Stock Company with related parties

- Pursuant to the Law on Enterprises No. 59/2020/0H 14 approved by the National
Assembly of the Socialist Republic of Vietnam on June 17, 2020 and guiding
documents,

. Pursuani to the Law on Securities No. 54/2019/0H14 approved by the National
Assembly of the Socialist Republic of Vietnam orn November 26, 2019 and its guiding
documents;

. Pursuant to the Charter of organization and cperation of Thuan Duc Joint Stock

Comparny.
The Board of Directors of Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company shall report to the General
Meeting of Shareholders on transaction confracts with related parties in the year, the
contents are as follows:

Purchase and service:

Contract in principle No. 04012023/TD-TDHY/2023 signed on January 4, 2023
between Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company and Thuan Duc Hung Yen Co., Ltd.
The purpose of purchase is that Thuan Duc Hung Yen Co., Lid, produces bags,
bags, materials, and values according to each order,

Contract in principle No. 01-2020/HDTNTDHY-TD signed on 25/03/2020 and
Appendix 0STDHY-TD signed on 22/03/2024 between Thuan Duc Joint Stock
Company and Thuan Duc Hung Yen Co,, Lid. Purpose of renting an office.

Contract in principle Mo, 02012024/TD-TDECO/2024 signed on January 2, 2024
between Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company and Thuan Duc ECO Joint Stock
Company. The purpose of purchasing goods is produced and traded by Thuan Duc
ECO Joint Stock Company, non-woven fabric products, materials, etc., the value
of cach order.

Contract No. 20230801/HDTMB-ECO-TD signed on (1/08/2023 and Annex to




Contract No. PL0O1-20230301/PLHDTMB-ECO-TP  signed on 01/05/2024
between Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company and Thuoan Duc ECO Joint Stock
Company. Purpose of renting factory space of Thuan Duc ECO Joint Stock
Company.

Contract No. 2023050 1/HDTMB-ECO-TD signed on 01/05/2023 and appendix
PLO1-20230501/HDTMB-ECO-TE dated 01/05/2024 between Thuan Duc Joint
Stock Company and Thuan Duc ECO Joint Stock Company, Purpose of renting
factory space of Thuan Due ECO Joint Stock Company.

Contract No. 20240501 /HDTMB-ECO-TB signed on 01/05/2024 between Thuan
Duc Joint Stock Company and Thuan Duc ECO Joint Stock Company. Purpose of
renting factory space of Thuan Due ECO Joint Stock Company.

Processing contract No. 01072023/TD-TDECO signed on 01/07/2023 between
Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company and Thuan Due ECO Joint Stock Company,
Purpose of hiring Thuan Duc ECO Joint Stock Company to process products of
Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company.

Contract in principle No. 0301/2024/HDNT/TY-TD dated 03/01/2024 with Thai
Yen Packaging Manufacturing Joint Stock Company. The purpose of purchase is
that Thai Yen Packaging Manufacturing Joint Stock Company produces and trades
in bags, fragile, wasie plastics, ctc., the valuc of cach order.

Contract in principle No. 0201HDNT-2023/TD-HKB dated 02/01/2023 with

Hoang Anh Kinh Bae Co., Ltd. Purpese of buying cartons from Hoang Anh Kinh
Bac Co., Ltd., value according 1o each order.

Sales, service:

Contract No. 01/TDHY/2024-HDTX signed on December 25, 2023, between
Thuan Duc and Thuan Duc Hung Yen Co.. Ltd. Purposc of car rental.

Contract No, 01-01122021-1/HDT-PLHUD dated 01/12/2022, between Thuan Duc
and Thuan Duc Hung Yen Co., Ltd. Purpose of leasing machinery and equipment.

Contract No. 03012023/ TD-TDHY/2023 dated 03/01/2023 between Thuan Duc
Joint Stock Company and Thuan Duc Hung Yen Co., Ltd. The purpose of selling
sacks, pieces, supplies and raw materials for Thuan Duc Hung Yen Co., Lid. to
produce, the value of each order.

Contract No. 0103/ TB-TPECO/2023 dated 01/03/2023 between Thuan Duc Joint




Stock Company and Thuan Duc ECO Joint Stock Company. The purpose of
selling sacks, pieces, supplies and raw materials for Thuan Duc ECO Joint Stock
Company to produce, the value of each order.

Contract No. 0272024HDTX dated 01/05/2023 and Appendix Ne. PLUI-
02/2024/HDTX-PLHD dated 01/05/2024 and Contract No, 01/2024/HDTX dated
25/12/2023 with Thuan Duc ECO Joint Stock Company. Purpose of car rental.

Contract Mo, 02-0IMMTB/HDET TD-TY-PLHD dated 25/02/2022 with Thai
Yen Packaging Manufacturing Joint Stock Company. Purpose of leasing
machinery and equipment.

Contract No. 01-03/2021/HDTX-PLHD, Neo. 01-02/2021/HDTX-PLHD and No.
01/06/HDTX dated 01/03/2021 with Thai Yen Packaging Manufacturing Joint
Stock Company. Purpose of car rental,

Contract No. 01-2023/TD-TY /2023 dated 03/01/2023 between Thuan Duc Joint
Stock Company and Thai Yen Packaging Manufacturing Joint Stock Company.
The purpose of selling sacks, bags, materials, and raw materials for Thai Yen
Packaging Manufacturing Joint Stock Company to produce, the value of each
order.

Transactions of borrowing, borrowing, buying and selling shares:

Share transfer contract (0305/2024/HDCN/TBIB dated 03/05/2024. 10 acquire
2,500,000 shares of Thuan Duc JB Joint Stock Company from related parties,
wherehy the Company's ownership rate in Thuan Due JB Joint Stock Company is

15%.

During the vear, the Company traded short-term financial suppost for Thuan Duc
ECO Ipint Stock Company of VND 42.8 billion and Thai Yen Packaging
Manufacturing Joint Stock Company of VND 13.2 billion and recovered it.

The above contracts and transactions have been fully presented in financial statements,
periodic corporate governance reports with specific value information, within the
scope of approval of the Board of Directors.

Above is the content of the report of the Board of Directors of Thuan Duc Joint
Stock Company. the Board of Directors respectfully reports to the 2024 Annual
General Meeting of Sharcholders.

Respect./.




Recipient:
- Shareholders (posting oft the company's
website):
- Members of the Baard of Directors, Board of
Direciors, Supervisory Bogard;
- Sawe FF,

TM. BOARD

CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF Q/{‘/

ECTORS

NGUYEN DUC CUONG




THUAN DUC THE SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM

JOINT STOCK COMPANY Independence - Freedom - Happiness

No.: 2803/2025/DT-HBQT-TDP Hurng Yen, March 28, 2025

ELECTION REGULATIONS FOR MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
AND THE SUPERVISORY BOARD TERM 2025-2030

- Pursuant to the Law on Enterprises No. 3%2020/0H 14, passed by the National Assembly of the
Socialist Republic of Vietnam on June 17, 2020, and its guiding documentis;

- Pursuant io the Law on Securities No. 54/2019/0H14, passed by the Narional Assembly of the
Socialist Republic of Vietnam on November 26, 2019, and its guiding documents;

- Pursuani to the Charter on organization and operation of Thuan Duc Joint Steck Company,

The 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company

approves the election regulations for Board of Directors and Supervisory Board members for
the 2025-2030 term as follows:

L. Eligible Voters

Shareholders holding voting shares and authorized representatives of shareholders holding <
voting shares (as per the shareholder list finalized on March 6, 2025). f""”

e [
=
d'-:ll____- =

II. List of Candidates for Election to the Board of Directors and Supervisory Board E-F:i:f:"rigﬁ_ﬂf'i
The list is compiled by the Organizing Committee of the 2025 Annual General Meeting gf| cOPr

Sharcholders and approved by the General Meeting. Candidates are arranged in alphabeti }"-.T'HUAH
order by name on the ballot. *‘ﬁ’j?

111, Ballois and Invalid Ballots
1. Ballots:

- Ballots are uniformly printed and contain the total number of voting rights according to the
attendance code.

- Separate ballots are printed for the election of Board of Directors and Supervisory Board
members.

- Sharcholders or authorized representatives receive ballots based on their attendance code.

- In case of errors, shareholders may request the Organizing Committee to issue a new ballot.
2. Cases of Invalid Ballots:

- Ballots not in the prescribed format of the Company or without the Company's stamp.
- Ballots that are altered or contain additional names not included in the approved list,

- Ballots where the total votes cast exceed the shareholder’s allocated voting rights.

- Ballots without the signature of the shareholder or authorized representative.

IV. Number of Members to be Elected
- Number of Board of Directors members to be elected: (7 (seven) members.
- Number of Supervisory Board members to be clected: 03 (three) members.




V. Election Method

- Voting is conducted by secret ballot using the cumulative voting method.

- Each shareholder’s total voting rights are determined by multiplying their shares (including
owned and authorized shares) by the number of Board of Directors (07) or Supervisory Board
(03) members.

- Sharcholders allocate their voting rights among the candidates they select. The number of
votes for each candidate may vary based on sharcholder preference.

- The total votes cast by a shareholder must not exceed their total voting rights.

- Shareholders may choose to distribute their votes equally among candidates by marking "X’
or'V' in the voting column,

- Ballots are placed in sealed ballot boxes, and vote counting is conducted in the presence of
shareholders.

- Voting begins after all ballots have been distributed and ends when the last sharcholder
casts their vote.

- Vote counting is conducted immediately after voting concludes.

- The vote counting results are recorded in writing and anmounced by the Head of the Vote
Counting Committee before the General Mecting of Sharcholders.

VL Election Principles .;:.i
- Elected candidates are determined based on the highest number of votes received, !“"r S
descending order, until all Board of Directors and Supervisory Board positions are filled. \: |J
- In the event of a tie among candidates where further selection is needed, a re-election wilk /=
be conducted among those candidates. fi:’.*‘

- If the required number of Board of Directors and Supervisory Board members is not elected, &
additional voting rounds will be held until all positions are filled.

- These regulations and the attached annex are publicly read before the General Meeting of
Shareholders for approval.

Sincerely.

Recipients:

- Shareholders (pasted on the Company 's website); ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTOR
- Srate Secwrities Commisslon of Fiefman, Ho Chi Mink !
City Stock Exchange, Hanol Stock Exchange (for reportingl;
- Members of the Board of Directors, Executive Board, ard
Supervizory Board;

- Archived af e Cotmparg Cfee,

NGUYEN DUC CUONG




THUAN DUC THE SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM

JOINT STOCK COMPANY Independence - Freedom - Happiness
No: 1304/2025/QC-BHDCE Hung Yen, April 13, 2025
WORKING REGULATIONS

2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

To guide shareholders in participating in the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Sharcholders and
exercising their voting rights, the Board of Directors submits the Working Regulations for
approval by the General Meeting of Shareholders as follows:

L. GENERAL PROVISIONS

This regulation stipulates the organization of the 2025 Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders of Thuan Due Joint Stock Company, as well as the rights and obligations of
shareholders attending the meeting. Shareholders owning shares of the Company and all
participants of the meeting are respensible for complying with the provisions of this
regulation.

The meeting organizing committes sends the Invitation Letter and meeting documents to
the address registered by shareholders with the Company and simultaneously publishes
relevant materials on the Company’s website (hitps://thuanducisc.vn/quan-he-co-dong/dai-
hoi-dong-co-dong). Shareholders can access the website to download and review the
meeting materials in advance and provide written feedback to the organizing committee for
consolidation or direct discussion at the General Meeting of Shareholders.

The General Meeting of Shareholders is conducted when sharcholders attending the
meeting represent more than 50% of the total voting shares,

Shareholders and their representatives attending the meeting must sit in the designated seats
or areas assigned by the organizing committee.

Smoking is prohibited in the meeting hall, private conversations should be avoided, and
mohile phones should be set to silent mode during the meeting.

IL. RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF ATTENDING SHAREHOLDERS

1. Rights of Attending Shareholders:

Shareholders and their representatives whose names are on the shareholder list as of March
6, 2025, are entitled to attend the meeting,

Sharchelders who cannot attend the meeting may authorize another individual to represent
them. The authorized person cannot delegate their authority to a third party. The
authorization letter must follow the Company's published template or a legally compliant
format.

Sharcholders and their representatives arriving late may register vpon arrival and
subsequently participate in voling; however, previous voting rights exercised before their
registration remain unaffected.
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2. Obligations of Attending Shareholders:

Shareholders attending the meeting must bring their Invitation Letter, ID Card, Citizen
Identification Card, or Passport, If authorized, they must also provide the Authorization
Letter. These documents must be presented to the sharcholder eligibility verification team
to receive a Voting Card containing their full name, shareholder code. number of shares
owned or represented, a Voting Ballot, and other meeting documents.

Comply with the provisions of this regulation, follow the instructions of the meeting
chairperson, and respect the meeting’s outcomes.

Bear their own travel and accommodation expenses during the meeting.

Complete the Voting Ballot and submit it to the Voting Card verification team at the
General Meeting of Shareholders.

IL VOTING ON MATTERS AT THE GENERAL MEETING

Principles:

All matters on the meeting agenda must be discussed and publicly voted on by the General
Meeting of Shareholders through raising Voting Cards.

Voting Cards are issued by the Company, stamped with the Company scal, and distributed
to Sharcholders and their representatives at the General Meeting of Shareholders. The
Voting Card clearly states the Shareholder's full name, Sharcholder ID, and the number of
voling shares owned by that Shareholder.

2. Voting Methaod:

Sharcholders and their representatives vote (approve, disapprove, or have other opinions)
on a matter by directly raising their Vioting Cards at the General Mesting.

During the voting process, Shareholders who approve will raise their Voting Cards. The
Voting Card Verification Committee members will record the Sharcholder 1D and the
corresponding number of votes for cach approving Sharcholder. Similarly, under the
direction of the Chairperson, Shareholders who disapprove or have other opinions will
raise their Voting Cards in tumn.

Immediately after completing the voting process for the presented matters, the Voting
Card Verification Committee will conduct vote counting and announce the results before
the General Meeting,

Shareholders must fully complete, sign, and clearly state their full names on the Voting
Ballots and submit them to the Voting Card Verification Committee for record-kesping.

3. Voting Rules: 3.1. One (1) common share comresponds to one (1) voting right as of the
sharcholder list closing date (March 6, 2025).

3.2, The following matters shall be approved when at least 50% of the total voting shares
held by Shareholders present at the General Meeting are in favor:

« Report of the Board of Directors;
= Report of the General Director;
= Report of the Supervisory Board;
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Proposal for selecting an audit firm to audit the 2025 financial statements:

Proposal for approving the audited 2024 financial statements, profit distribution plan,
and 2024 dividend payment;

Approval of the 2025 business and profit plan, including dividend distribution;
Approval of remuneration for the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board:
Approval of amendments and supplements to the Company's Charter of Organization
and Operation;

Other matters as prescribed by the Company's Charter.

3.3. The following matters shall be approved when at least 65% of the total voting shares
held by Sharcholders present at the General Meeting are in favor:

Approval of the 2024 cash dividend payment plan;
Approval of the plan for issuing shares to existing sharcholders;
Other matters as prescribed by the Company's Charter,

3.4, The election of members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board shall be
conducted by the cumulative voting method as stipulated in the Law on Enterprises and the
Company's Charter and detailed in the Election Regulations.

IV. DISCUSSIONS AT THE GENERAL MEETING

Discussions shall only take place within the allocated time and must be limited to matters
presented in the agenda of the General Mecting of Sharsholders,

Sharcholders and their representatives who wish to express their opinions must register
their questions on the Question Form and submit them to the Mesting Sccretariat,

The Mecting Secretariat will arrange the Question Forms in order of registration and
forward them to the Chairperson of the Meeting.

Based on the compiled and arranged Question Forms presented by the Secretariat, the
Chairperson or a designated member will respond to the questions of the Shareholders
and their representatives.

V. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE CHAIRPERSON

£

Conduct the General Meeting in accordance with the agenda, rules, and working
regulations approved by the Meeting. The Chairperson operates under the principle of
democratic centralism and makes decisions based on the majority,

2. Guide the Meeting in discussions and voting on matters within the agenda and any
related issues that arise during the General Meeting.

3. The Chairperson has the authority to take necessary measures to conduct the meeting in
an orderly manner, ensuring it follows the approved agenda and reflects the majority's
OpINIons.

4. The Chairperson's decisions on procedural matters or issues arising outside the agenda
of the Meeting shall be final,

The Chairperson has the right to:

Require all attendees to comply with security checks or other security measures:



Request competent authorities to maintain order in the meeting and expel any individuals
who do not comply with the Chairperson's authority, deliberately disrupt order, obstruct
the normal progress of the meeting, or fail to comply with security check requirements;
Postpone the General Meeting that has met the required number of registered attendees
to a later time or change the meeting location in the following cases:
a The venue does not have sufficient seating for all attendees;
o Communication facilities at the venue do not ensure effective participation,
discussion, and voting for sharcholders;
o Attendees exhibit disruptive behavior that may prevent the meeting from
proceeding fairly and legally.
The maximum postponement period shall not exceed three days from the scheduled
commencement date of the meeting.

V1. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE SECRETARIAT

1. Accurately and truthfully record the entire content and proceedings of the General

o]
v

Meeting, including matters approved or noted by the Shareholders and their
representatives, in the Meeting Minutes.
Draft the Resolutions on the matters approved at the General Meefing,

VI1, RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE VOTE COUNTING COMMITTEE

L.

| B%

Aceurately determine the voting results of Sharcholders and their representatives on the
matters approved at the General Meeting and notify the Secretariat of the voting results.

. Be responsible for the accuracy of the vote counting results in the 2025 Annual General

Meeting of Sharcholders.

Review and report to the General Meeting any violations of voting procedures or
complaints regarding the voting results.

Guide Shareholders in completing the Vaoting Ballots and collect thems verify the Voting
Ballots sent by Shareholders via postal mail (in case of remote voting) as a basis for
consolidating voting resulis and notifying the Scerctariat of the General Meeting.
During the performance of their duties, the Vote Counting Committee must act honestly,
accurately, and bear responsibility for the voting results.

VIIL. HANDLING CASES WHERE THE GENERAL MEETING OF
SHAREHOLDERS IS UNSUCCESSFUL

If the required number of Shareholders is not present within thirty (30) minutes from the
scheduled commencement time as stipulated in Section I of this Regulation, the convener
shall cancel the meeting.

The General Meeting of Sharcholders must be reconvened within thirty (30) days from
the originally scheduled meeting date. The second General Mecting of Shareholders can
only proceed if Shareholders attending represent at least 33% of the total voting shares.

If the second General Meeting cannot be held due to insufficient attendance within tharty
{30) minutes from the scheduled commencement time, a third General Meeting of
Shareholders may be convened within twenty (20) days from the scheduled date of the
second meeting. In this case, the meeting shall proceed regardless of the total number of
voting shares represented by attending Shareholders and shall be considered valid with
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the authority to decide on all matters proposed for approval at the Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders.

IX. MINUTES OF THE GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

All contents of the General Mceting of Shareholders must be recorded in the Meeting Minutes
by the Secretariat. The Meeting Minutes must be read by the Secretariat and approved by
Sharcholders and their representatives before the General Meeting is adjourned.

The above constitutes the full Working Regulations of the 2025 Annual General Meeting of
Sharcholders of Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company, submitted for consideration and approval by
sharcholders and their representativ es.

Sincerely.
Recipienils:

= Shavehaiders (posied on the Company 5 wahsife); ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIREC RS
- Btate Spcurities Comaniexion of Fietmam, Ho Chi Lish f
Clty Stock Exchange, Hani Stock Excharge (for reportingl;

_Emﬂfn af the Boand of Direciors, Execwiive Boared, ,;E.} CHAIRMAN OF THE BOD ;L /
Supervivory Foard!

- Arefeived af the Campamy Office.

NGUYEN DUC CUONG \
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THUAN DUC JOINT STOCK COMPANY
Address: Bang Ngang Hamlet, Luong Bang Town, Kim Dong District, Hung Yen Provines,
Viet Nam
Phone: 0221.381.0705 - Fax: 0221.381.0706
Wehsite: thuanduejse.vn
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INTRODUCTORY SECTION
This Charter was approved pursuant to the resolution of the Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders 2023 No. 1304/2025/NQ-DHBCD-TDP dated April 13, 2025.
1. DEFINITIONS OF TERMS IN THE CHARTER
Article 1. Interpretation of terms

I. In this Charter, the following terms shall be interpreted as follows:

a) Charter capital refers to the total par value of shares that have been sold or registered for

purchase upon the establishment of the joint-stock company, as stipulated in Article 6 of this
Charter:

k) Foting capital refers to share capital where the owner has the right to vote on matters within the
jurisdiction of the General Meeting of Sharcholders;

¢) Enterprise Law refers to Enterprise Law No. 3%/2020/QH |4 passed by the National Assembly
of the Socialist Republic of Vietam on June 17, 2020;

d) Secwrities Law refers to Securities Law No. 54/2019%QH 14 passed by the National Assembly
of the Socialist Republic of Vietnam on November 26, 2019;

€} Fier Nam is the Socialist Republic of Vietnam;

f) Establishmeni date refers to the date the Company is granted the Business Registration
Certificate (Business License or equivalent documents) for the first time;

g) Enterprise executive refers to the General Director, Deputy General Directors, Chief
Accountant, and other executives as stipulated in the Company’s Charter;

h) Enterprise manager refers to company managers, including the Cheirman of the Board of
Directors, Board members, General Director, and other individuals holding management titles as
stipulated in this Charter;

i) Related person refers to individuals and organizations as defined in Clause 46, Article 4 of the
Securities Law;

k) Sharehalder refers to an individual or organization holding at least one share of the joint-stock
COMpany;

1) Founding shareholder refers to a sharcholder who holds at least one ordinary share and signs
the list of founding shareholders of the joint-stock company;

m) Major shareholder refers to a sharcholder defined in Clause 18, Article 4 of the Securities Law;




n} Duration of operation refers to the duration of the Company as specified in Article 2 of this
Charter, including any extensions approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders;

o) Stock exchange refers to the Vietnam Stock Exchange and its subsidiaries.

2. In this Charter, references to one or more provisions or documents shall include any
amendments, supplements, or replacements thereof,

3, The headings (Sections and Articles of this Charter) are for convenience of reference only and
do not affect the content of this Charter.

IL. COMPANY NAME, TYPE, HEADQUARTERS, BRANCHES, REPRESENTATIVE
OFFICES, BUSINESS LOCATIONS, DURATION, AND LEGAL REPRESENTATIVE

Article 2. Company name, type, headquarters, bra nches, representative offices, business
locations, and duration

1. Company name:

- Company name in Vietnamese: CONG TY CO PHAN THUAN BUC
. Company name in foreign language: THUAN DUC JOINT STOCK COMPANY
- Abbreviated name:

2, The Company is a joint-stock company with legal entity status in sccordance with the current
laws of Vietnam,
3. Registered headguarters of the Company:

- Address: Bang Mgang Hamlet, Lvong Bang Town, Kim Dong District, Hung Yen Province
- Phone: 0221.3810.705

- Fax: 0221 3810.706

. E-mail: infoi@thuanducjsc.vn

- Wehsite: www thuanduejse v

4. The Company may establish branches and representative offices in business locations to carry
out its operational objectives, in accordance with the decisions of the Board of Directors and
within the scope permitied by law.

5 lnless terminated earlisr under Clause 2, Article 34, or extended under Article 35 of this
Charter, the Company’s duration of operation is indefinite from the date of establishment.

Article 3. Legal representative of the Company
The Company has one (01) legal representative, as follows:
Full name: Mr. Nguyen Duc Cuong
- Date of birth: December 16, 1970

- Ethnicity: Kinh
Mationality: Vietnam




- Permanent registered address: NQ 02,10 Vinhomes Riverside 2, Viet Hung Ward, Long
Bien District, Hanoi, Yietnam.
Citizen ID number: 020070000067, issued by the Administrative Management Police
Department on May 10, 2021,

. Current residence: NQ 02.10 Vinhomes Riverside 2, Viet Hung Ward, Long Bien
District, Hanoi, Vietnam,

- Management position: Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company.

1. COMPANY OBJECTIVES, BUSINESS SCOPE, AND OPERATIONS
Article 4. Company objectives

1. Business sectors and industries of the Company:

No. Business Line Industry Code

01 | Manufacture of plastic products (Details: Recycling | 2220 (Primary)
plastic, woven packaging of all kinds)

02 | Printing (Details: Packaging printing) 1811

03 |Collection of non-hazardous waste (Details: 3811

Collecting and transporting plastic scrap (excluding
direct waste collection services from households))

04 | Recyeling of scrap (Details: Recycling plastic scrap 3830
of all kinds)

05 | Freight transport by road ' 4933

06 | Wholesale of other specialized goods not elsewhere 4669

classified (Details: Wholesale of plastic raw
materials, woven packaging of all kinds)
07 | Other remaining business support service activities 82099
not elsewhere classified (Details: Import and export
of machinery, equipment, packaging, and materials of
all kinds (excluding recorded items and goods on the
national reserve list))
0% | For conditional business lines, the enterprise is only | Industry not yet matched
allowed to operate when meeting the legal with the Vietnam

requirements. Standard Industrial

Classification System |

1. Company objectives:

The Company was established to mobilize and uiilize capital effectively in developing business
activities in manufaciuring, trade, and services, alming to maximize profits for the Company and
its shareholders, improve working conditions, increase income and living standards for employees,
fulfill tax obligations, and foster strong corporate growth,




Article 5. Business scope and operations

The Company is permitted to conduct business activities in the sectors and industries specified in
this Charter, which have been registered, updated, and publicly announced on the National
Business Registration Portal. In cases where the Company engages in conditional business sectors,

it must meet the necessary legal requirements as stipulated by the Investment Law and relevant
specialized laws.

The Company may also conduct business in other legally pormitted sectors, provided they are
approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders.

IV. CHARTER CAPITAL, SHARES, AND FOUNDING SHAREHOLDERS

Article 6. Charter capital, shares, and founding shareholders

6.
T,

The charter capital of the Company is §82,222,500,000 VND (Eight hundred eighty-two
hillion, two hundred twenty-two million, five hundred thousand Vietnamese dong). The total
charter capital is divided into 88,222,250 shares, with a par value of VND 10,000 per share.
The Company may change its charter capital upon approval by the General Meeting of
Shareholders and in compliance with legel regulations.

As of the date of adoption of this Charter, the Company’s shares include ordinary shares and
preferred shares (if any). The rights and obligations of sharcholders holding each type of share
are stipulated in Articles 12 and 13 of this Charter.

The Company may issue other types of preferred shares with the approval of the General
Meeting of Sharcholders, in accordance with the law.

. The name, address, number of shares, and other deteils of the founding sharcholders, as

required by the Enterprise Law, are specified in Appendix | auached to this Charter. This
Appendix is considered an integral part of this Charter. Ordinary shares shall be offered first
to existing sharcholders in proportion to their ownership percentage, unless the General
Meeting of Shareholders decides otherwise, Any unsold shares will be allocated by the Board
of Directors, which may distribute them to shareholders or other investors under no bess
favorable conditions than those offered to existing shareholders, unless otherwise approved by
the General Meeting of Sharcholders.

The Company may repurchase its own shares in accordance with the provisions of this Charter
and current laws.

The Company may issue other types of securities in compliance with legal regulations.

Article 7. Share certificates

1.

¥

Shareholders of the Company shall be issued share certificates corresponding to the number
and type of shares they own.

A share certificate is a type of sccurity that confirms the lawful rights and interests of the holder
in relation to a portion of the charter capital of the Issuing organization. The share certificate
must include all the required details as stipulated in Clause 1, Article 121 of the Enterprise
Law.




3. Within 30 days from the date of submission of a complete application for the transfer of share
ownership, as per the Company’s regulations, Or within 30 days from the date of full payment
for the purchase of shares, as per the Company’s share issuence plan (or another period as
specified in the issuance terms), The sharcholder shall be issued a share certificate.The
shareholder is not required to pay the Company any printing fees for the share certificate.

4. In case a share certificate is lost, damaged, or otherwise destroyed, the Company shall issue a
replacement certificate upon the shareholder's request. The shareholder’s request must include:

a) Information about the lost, damaged, or destroyed share centificate.
b) A commiiment 1o bear responsibility for any disputes arising from the issuance of the
replacement certificate,

Arficle 8, Other securities certificates

Bond certificates or other securities certificates issued by the Company shall bear the signature of
the legal representative and the Company’s seal.

Acrticle @, Share transfer

1. All shares are freely transferable, except as otherwise provided in this Charter and the law.
Listed shares and shares registered for trading on the Stock Exchange shall be transferred in
accordance with the laws on securities and the stock market.

2. Unpaid shares cannot be transferred and do not entitle the shareholder o dividends, bonus
shares, rights to purchase newly issned shares, or any other sharcholder rights as preseribed

by law:,
Article 10, Share redemption

1. If a sharehplder fails to make full and timely payment for shares subscribed, the Board of
Directors shall notify and have the right to demand payment of the outstanding amount. The
shareholder remains responsible for the total par value of the subscribed shares conceming
the Company's financial obligations arising from the non-payment.

2. The payment notice must clearly specify: A new payment deadline (at least 07 (seven) days
from the date of the notice); Payment location, A statement that failure to pay as required will
result in the shares being revoked.

3. The Board of Directors has the right to repossess unpaid shares if the shareholder fails to
comply with the payment request in the notice.

4. Revoked shares shall be treated as shares available for sale as stipulated in Clause 3, Article
112 of the Enterprise Law, The Board of Directors may directly sell or reallocate these shares
or authorize another entity to do so under terms and conditions deemed appropriate.

5. %Shareholders whose shares are revolked lose their shareholder status regarding those shares.
However, they remain liable for the total par value of the subscribed shares concerning the
Company's financial obligations from the date of revocation until the payment is completed.
The Board of Directors has full authority to enforce full payment of the share value at the time
of revocation,

6. The revocation notice shall be sent to the affected shareholder before the revocation takes
place. The revocation remains valid even if there are errors or omissions in sending the notice,

9




V. ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE, MANAGEMENT, AND CONTROL

Article 11. Organizational structure, management, and control
The Company’ s organizational structure, management, and control eonsist of:

General Meeting of Shareholders;
Board of Directors;

Supervisory Board;

General Director.

ety oo n

VI. SHAREHOLDERS AND GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

Article 12. Rights of shareholders

. Ordinary sharcholders have the following rights:

a) Attend and speak at General Meetings of Shareholders and exercise voting rights directly,
through an authorized representative, or via other methods as prescribed in this Charter and by
law. Each ordinary share carmmies one voting right.

b) Receive dividends at a rate determined by the General Meeting of Shareholders.

¢} Have priority in purchasing newly issued shares in proportion to their ordinary shareholding
percentage in the Company.

d) Freely transfer their shares to others, except as provided in Clause 3, Article 120 and Clause |,
Article 127 of the Enterprise Law, or other applicable legal provisions.

e) Review, inspect, and extract information regarding the names and contact details of vofing
shareholders; request corrections of inaccurate personal information.

iy Revilew, inspect, extract, or copy the Company's Charter, meeting minutes of the General
Meeting of Sharcholders, and resolutions of the General Meeting of Shareholders.

g} In the event of the Company's dissolution or bankruptcy, receive a portion of the remaining
assets proportional to their shareholding in the Company.

h) Request the Company to buy back shares in cases specified in Article 132 of the Enterprize
Law.

1) Be treated equally, Each share of the same type grants shareholders equal rights, obligations,
and benefits. If the Company issues preferred shares, the rights and obligations asscciated with

these shares must be approved by the General Mesting of Shareholders and fully disclosed to
shareholders.
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k) Have full access to periodic and extraordinary information disclosed by the Company as
required by law.

l) Have their legal rights and interests protected; request the suspension or annulment of resolutions

or decisions made by the General Meeting of Shareholders or the Board of Directors in accordance
with the Enterprise Law.

m) Exercise other rights as prescribed by law and this Charter.

2. Shareholders or groups of shareholders holding at least 5% of the total ordinary shares have
the following rights:

a) Request the Board of Directors to convene the General Mezting of Shareholders, as specified in
Clause 3, Article 115 and Article 140 of the Enterprise Law.

b) Review, inspect, and extract mecting minutes, resolutions, and decisions of the Boerd of
Directors, as well as semi-annual and annual financial statements, Supervisory Beard reports,
coniracts, transactions subject to Board of Directors approval, and other materials except for those
containing trade secrets or business secrets of the Company.

¢) Request the Supervisory Board to investigate specific issues related fo the Company's
management and operations if deemed necessary. The request must be in writing and must include:
Full name, contact address, nationelity, and legal identification details (for individual
sharcholders); Company name, enterprise code or legal identification details, and headquarters
address (for corporate sharchelders); Number of shares held, registration date, total shares ewned
by the sharcholder group, and percentage of ownership in the Company; Issues to be examined
and purpose of the investigation,

d) Propose issues to be included in the meeting agenda of the General Mesting of Shareholders.
The proposal must be in writing and submitted at least three (03) working days before the
meeting It must include the shareholder’s name, number of shares held, and the proposed agenda
item.

) Exercise other rights as prescribed by law and this Charter.

3. Sharcholders or groups of sharsholders holding at least 10% of the total ordinary shares have
the right 1o nominate candidates for the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board. In
addition, the nomination process may be conducted as follows:

a) Shareholders who form a group to nominate candidates for the Board of Directors and the
Supervisory Board must inform other attending sharcholders about their grouping before the
General Meeting of Shareholders begins.

b) Based on the number of members in the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board,

shareholders or growps of shareholders specified in this clause may nominate one or more
candidates for election as determined by the General Mecting of Shareholders. If the number of
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candidates nominated by shareholders or sharehelder groups is lower than their entitlement, the

remaining candidates shall be nominated by the Board of Directors, Supervisory Board, or other
shareholders.

Article 13. Obligations of shareholders

Ordinary shareholders have the following obligations:

1.
.

0

8.

Fully and puncually pay for the shares they have commimed to purchase.

Mot withdraw coniributed capital in the form of ordinary shares from the Company under any
circumstances, except when the shares are repurchased by the Company or transferred to
another party. If a sharchelder illegally withdraws part or all of their contributed share capital,
that shareholder and any related beneficiaries in the Company shall be jointly liable for the
Company’s debts and other financial obligations up to the withdrawn share value, as well as
for any resulting damages.

Comply with the Company's Charter and internal management regulations.

. Abide by resolutions and decisions of the General Meeting of Shareholders and the Board of

Directors.

. Maintain the confidentiality of information provided by the Company as prescribed in this

Charter and by law. Use the provided information only to exercise and protect their legal rights
and interssts. Strictly prohibit the distribution, reproduction, or transmission of such
information to other organizations or individuals.

Attend the Genergl Meeting of Shareholders and exercise their voting rights through the
following methods:

a) Attend and vote directly at the meeting.

b} Authorize another individual or organization to attend and voie on their behalf.

¢) Attend and vote via online conferencing, electronic voting, or other electronic methods,

d) Send their voting ballots to the meeting via mail, fax, or email.

Be personally liable when acting on behalf of the Company in any of the following
circumstances:

a) Violating the law. =

b) Conducting business or transactions for personal gain or to benefit another organization or
individual.

¢) Making early debt payments before due dates when the Company faces financial risks.
Fulfill other obligations as required by applicable laws,

Article 14, General Meeting of Shareholders

1

The General Meeting of Shareholders (GMS) consists of all shareholders with voting rights
and is the highest decision-making body of the Company. The Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders (AGM) shall be held once per year within four (04) months from the end of the
fiscal year, Unless otherwise specified in the Company®s Charter, the Board of Directors may
extend the AGM in necessary cases, but not exceeding six (06) months from the end of the
fiscal year. In addition to the AGM, the GMS may hold extraordinary meetings. The location
of the GMS is determined as the place where the chairperson is present, and it must be within
the territory of Yietnam.
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d)
€)

a)

b)

d)

The Board of Directors shall convene the AGM and select a suitable venue, The AGM decides
on matters as prescribed by law and the Company's Charter, including the approval of the
audited annual financial statements. If the Company’s audited financial statements contain
material exceptions, an adverse opinion, or a disclaimer of opinion, the Company must invite
a representative of the auditing firm to attend the AGM. The representative of the approved
auditing firm must be present at the AGM.

The Board of Directors must convene an Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM) in the
following cases:

When the Board of Directors deems it necessary for the Company's interests.

When the number of remaining members in the Board of Directors or Supervisory Board falls
below the minimum required by law.
At the request of shareholders or a group of shareholders, as stipulated in Clause 2, Article 115
of the Enterprise Law. The request must be in writing, stating the reasons and purpose of the
meeting, and must bear the signatures of the requesting shareholders. If the request consists of
multiple documents, they must collectively bear the required signatures,
At the request of the Supervisory Board,
) In other cases prescribed by law and this Charter.

. Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM):

The Board of Directors must convene the EGM within thirty (30) days from the date the
number of members in the Board of Directors or Supervisory Board falls below the required
minimum {as specified in Point b, Cleuse 3 of this Article), or from the date of receiving a
request under Points ¢ and d, Clause 3 of this Article.

If the Board of Directors fails to convene the EGM as required in Point a, Clause 4 of this
Article, the Supervisory Board shall convene the EGM within the next 30 days, in accordance
with Clause 3, Article 140 of the Enterprise Law.

If the Supervisory Board fails to convene the EGM, the shareholder(s) or group of shareholders
specified in Point ¢, Clause 3 of this Article may request the Company’s representative to
convene the EGM in accordance with the Enterprise Law.

In such a case, the shareholder(s) convening the EGM may request the Business Registration
Authority to supervise the process of convening, conducting, and making resolutions at the
EGM. All cosis for convening and conducting the EGM shall be reimbursed by the Company.
However, this does not include expenses incurred by shareholders for attending the meeting,
such as travel and accommodation costs.

The procedures for organizing the GMS shall comply with Clause 3, Article 140 of the
Enterprise Law.

Article 15. Rights and obligations of the General Meeting of Shareholders

The General Meeting of Sharcholders (GMS) has the following rights and obligations:

a) Approve the Company's development strategy.
b) Decide on the types and total number of shares to be offered for sale and determine the annual
dividend rate for each type of share.
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€) Elect, dismiss, or remove members of the Board of Directors and Supervisory Board.

d) Approve investment or disposal of assets valued at 35% or more of the Company's total
assets, as recorded in the most recent financizl statements,

&) Decide on amendments and supplements to the Company®s Charter.

f) Approve the annual financial statements.

g} Decide on the repurchase of more than 10% of the total issued shares of each type.

h) Review and handle violations committed by members of the Board of Directors or
Supervisory Board that cause harm to the Company or its shareholders.

i) Decide on Company reorganization or dissolution.

k) Determine the budget or total remuneration, bonuses, and other benefits for the Board of
Directors and Supervisory Board.

[} Approve the intemal governance regulations and the operational regulations of the Board of
Directors and Supervisory Board.

m) Approve the list of approved auditing firms and decide on the auditing firm responsible for
auditing the Company’s activities, as well as dismiss auditors when necessary,

n) Exercise other rights and obligations as prescribed by law:,

2. The Genemal Meeting of Shareholders shall discuss and approve the following matters:

a) The Company's annual business plan.

b} Audited annual financial statements

c) Reports of the Board of Directors on corporate governance and the performance of the Board
of Directors and its members.

d) Supervisory Board reporis on the Company®s business performance and the activities of the
Beard of Directors and the General Director.

e) Self-assessment reports on the performance of the Supervisory Board and its members,

) Dividend rates for each type of share.

g) The number of members in the Board of Direclors and Supervisory Board.

h) Election, dismissal, and removal of members of the Board of Directors and Supervisory
Board.

i) Approval of the list of approved auditing firms and selection of the auditing firm to review
the Company's activities when necessary.

i) Amendments and supplements to the Company's Charier.

k) The type and number of newly issued shares, as well as the transfer of founding
sharcholders’ shares within the first three (03) vears of the Company's establishment.

1) Division, separation, merger, consolidation, or conversion of the Company.

m) Reorganization and dissolution (liquidation) of the Company &nd the appointment of
liguidators.

n) Investment or disposal of assets valued at 33% or more of the Company’s total assefs, as
recorded in the most recent financial statements.

o) Repurchase of more than 10% of the total issued shares of each type.

p) Approval of contracts and transactions with parties specified in Clause 1, Article 167 of the
Enterprise Law, with a transaction value equal to or exceeding 35% of the Company’s total
assets, as recorded in the most recent financial statements,

q) Approval of transactions specified in Clause 4, Article 293 of Decree No. 155/2020WND-CP
dated December 31, 2020, which provides detailed guidance on the Securities Law,
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Approval of the intemal governance regulations, as well as the operational regulations of the
Board of Directors and Supervisory Board.
Other matters as prescribed by law and this Charter,

All resolutions and matters included in the meeting agenda must be discussed and voted on at
the General Mesting of Shareholders.

Article 16. Authorization to attend the General Meeting of Shareholders

X

Shareholders or their authorized representatives (if the shareholder is an organization) may
attend the General Meeting of Shareholders (GMS) in person, authorize one or more
individuals or organizations to atlend on their behalf, or attend via one of the methods
specified in Clause 3, Article |44 of the Enterprise Law.

. Authorization for an individual or organization to attend the GMS must be made in writing.

The authorization document must comply with civil law provisions and clearly state: The
name of the authorizing shareholder. The name of the authorized individual or organization.
The number of shares being authorized. The scope and content of the authorization, The
duration of the authorization. Signatures of both the authorizing party and the authorized
party. The authorized representative must submit the authonzation document when registering
for the GMS. In cases of sub-authorization, the attendee must also provide the original
authorization document from the shareholder or the authorized representative of an
organizational shareholder (if not previously registered with the Company).

The voting ballot of an authorized sttendee remains valid even if any of the following events
occur, unless:

a) The authorizing party has passed away, been legally ineapacitated, or lost legal capacity.
b} The authorizing party has revoked the authorization.

¢) The authorizing party has canceled the authority of the authorized person.

This provision does not apply if the Company receives notification of any of these events before
the GMS begins or before a reconvened meeting takes place.

Article 17. Changes to rights

Changes or cancellation of special rights associated with a type of preferred shares shall only
be effective if approved by sharcholders representing at least 65% of the tol voting shares
of all attending shareholders. A resolution of the General Meeting of Sharcholders (GMS)
that negatively affects the rights and obligations of preferred shareholders shall anly be passed
if: Itis approved by at least 75% of the attending preferred shareholders of the same type, Or
it is approved in writing by at least 75% of the total preferred shareholders of that type when
passed via written consultation.

A seperate meeting for preferred shareholders to approve changes to their rights shall only be
valid if at least: Two (02) sharcholders (or their authorized representatives) are present, and
They hold at least one-third (1/3) of the total par value of the issued shares of that type. 1fthe
required quorum is not met, the meeting shall be reconvened within 30 days, and any holders
of sach shares attending (regardless of their number or the number of shares held) shall be
considered a valid quorum. Al these meetings of preferred shareholders, any attending

15




shareholders or their representatives may request a secret ballot. Each share of the same type
carries equal voting rights at such meetings.

The procedures for conducting such separate meetings shall tfollow the same provisions as in
Articles 19, 20, and 21 of this Charter.

Unless otherwise specified in the terms of share issuance, the special rights associated with
preferred shares concemning profit distribution or the Company’s assets shall remain
unchanged when the Company issues additional shares of the same type.

Article 18. Convening, agenda, and notice of the General Meeting of Shareholders

I

i

8)

The Board of Directors shall convene the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders (AGM)
and Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders (EGM). The EGM shall be convened in
cases specified in Clause 3, Article 14 of this Charter.

The convener of the General Meeting of Sharcholders must perform the following tasks:

Prepare the list of shareholders eligible to attend and vote at the GMS. The list must be
compiled no later than 10 days before the date of sending the mecting notice. The Company
must publicly announce the preparation of this 1ist at least 20 days before the final registration
date.

Prepare the meeting agenda and content.

Prepare meeting documenis.

Draft resolutions of the GMS based on the expected meeting agenda.

Determine the time and location of the GMS.

Send the meeting notice to all shareholders eligible to attend.

Perform other tasks necessary for organizing the GMS.

The GMS meeting notice shall be sent to all shareholders via a method that ensures
delivery to their registered contact addresses. The notice must also be published on the
Company's website, the State Securities Commission (S5C) website, and the Stock Exchange
where the Company's shares are listed or registered for trading. The convener must send the
notice at least 21 days before the meeting date (counting from the date the notice is sent or
properly dispatched). The mecting agenda and related documents shall be sent to shareholders
and published on the Company’s website. [f the documents are not included in the meeting
notice, the notice must include a link to access all mecting materials, including:

a) Meeting agenda and related documents. _
b} List and detailed information of candidates (if electing members of the Board of Directors or

Supervisory Board).

¢) Voting ballot;
d) Draft resolutions for each agenda item,

4.

Shareholders or shareholder groups specified in Clause 2, Anticle 12 of this Charter have the
right to propose additional agenda items for the GMS. Proposals must be submitted in wriling
to the Company at least three (03) working days before the meeting date. The proposal must
inciude: Shareholder name. Number and type of shares held, Proposed agenda item.
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3. The convener of the GMS has the right to reject proposals under Clause 4 of this Article in
the following cases:

a) The proposal does not comply with Clause 4 of this Article.

b) At the time of the proposal, the shareholder ar shareholder group does not kold at least $%
of ordinary shares, as required in Clause 2, Article 12 of this Charter,

¢) The proposed matter is beyond the decision-making authority of the GMS.

d) Other cases as prescribed by law and this Charter.

6. The convener of the GMS must accept and include valid shareholder proposals in the draft
meeting agenda, except in cases specified in Clause 5 of this Article. The proposal shall be
formally added to the agenda if approved by the General Meeting of Sharcholders.

Article 19. Conditions for holding the General Meeting of Shareholders

. The General Mceeting of Sharcholders (GMS) shall be conducted when shareholders
afiending the meeting represent more than $0% of the towl voting shares.

2, Ifthe first meeting fails to meet the quorum as stipulated in Clause 1 of this Article, a
second meeting notice shall be sent within 30 days from the scheduled date of the first
meeting. The second GMS shall be conducted when shareholders attending the meeting
represent at least 33% of the total voting shares.

5. Ifthe second meeting fails to meet the quorum as stipulated in Clause 2 of this Article, a
third meeting notice shall be sent within 20 davs from the scheduled date of the second
meeting. The third GMS shall be conducted regardless of the total number of voting shares
represented by atiending sharcholders.

Article 20. Procedures for Conducting Meetings and Voting at the General Meeting of
Shareholders

1. Before the commencement of the meeting, the company must carry out shareholder registration
procedures and continue registration until all shareholders entitled to attend the meeting have
completed their registration, following this sequence:

a) During shareholder registration, the company shall issue each shareholder or awhorized
representative with a voting card, which includes the registration number, full name of the
shareholder, full name of the authorized representative, and the number of votes corresponding to
that shareholder. The General Meeting of Sharcholders shall discuss and vote on each matter on
the agenda. Voting shall be conducted by casting votes in favor, against, or abstaining. At the
General Meeting, votes in favor shall be collected first, followed by votes against, and finally, the
total number of votes for and against shall be counted to determine the decision. The vote counting
results shall be announced by the Chairperson before the meeting is adjourned. The General
Meeting shall elect individuals responsible for vote counting or supervising the vote counting
process as proposed by the Chairperson. The number of members in the vote-counting commities
shall be determined by the General Meeting of Shareholders based on the Chairperson's proposal;
b) Shareholders, authorized representatives of institutional shareholders, or proxies arriving after
the commencement of the meeting may register immediately and subsequently have the right to
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participate and vote at the meeling upon regisiration. The Chairperson is not responsible for
pausing the meeting to allow latecomers to register, and the validity of resolutions passed prior to
their registration remains unchanged.

2. The election of the Chairperson, Secretary, and Vote-Counting Committee is regulated ag
follows:

) The Chairperson of the Board of Directors shall act as the Chairperson of the General Meeting
of Sharcholders convened by the Board of Directors or may authorize another Board member 1o
act as Chairperson. If the Chairperson is absent or temporarily unable to perform duties, the
remaining Board members shall elect one among themselves to chair the meeting by majority vote,
If a Chairperson cannot be elected, the Head of the Supervisory Board shall preside over the
meeting until the General Meeting of Sharcholders elects a Chairperson from the attendees, with
the individual receiving the highest number of wvotes acting as Chairperson;
b) Except in the cases specified in point a of this clause, the person signing the notice convening
the General Meeting of Sharcholders shall preside over the meeting until the shareholders elect a
Chairperson, with the individual receiving the highest number of votes serving as Chairperson;
¢) The Chairperson shall appoint one or more persons as the meeting secretarics;
d) The General Meeting of Shareholders shall elect one or more persons o the Vote-Counting
Committes as proposed by the Chairperson.

3. The agenda and meeting contents must be approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders
during the opening session. The agenda shall clearly specify and allocate time for each item on
the meeting program.

4. The Chairperson of the meeting has the right to take necessary and reasonable measures to
conduct the General Meeting of Sharcholders in an orderly manner, in accordance with the
approved agenda, and reflecting the will of the majority of attendees:

a) Arranging seating at the meseting venue;

b) Ensuring the safety of all attendees at the meeting;

¢) Facilitating shareholders’ participation (or continued participation) in the meeting. The person
convening the General Meeting of Shareholders has full authority to modify these measures
and implement any necessary actions, including issuing entry passes or using other appropriate
selection methods,

5. The General Meeting of Shareholders shall discuss and vote on each matter on the agenda.
Woting shall be conducted by casting votes in favor, against, or abstaining. The vote-counting
results shall be announced by the Chairperson before the meeting is adjourned.

6. Shareholders or their proxies arriving after the meeting has commenced may still register and
have the right to vote immediately after registration. In such cases, the validity of resolutions
passed before their registration remains unchanged.

7. The person convening the mesting or the Chairperson of the General Meeting of Sharcholders
has the following rights:

a) Requesting all attendees to undergo security checks or other lawful and reasonable security
MeEasures:
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b)

a)

Requesting competent authorities to maintain order at the meeting and expel individuals who
do not comply with the Chairperson’s authority, intentionally cause diswurbances, obstruct the
normal progress of the meeting, or fail 10 comply with security checks.

The Chairperson has the right to postpone the General Meeting of Shareholders with a
sufficient quorum for a maximum of three working days from the scheduled date and may only
postpone or change the meeting venue in the following cases:

The meeting venue does not have sufficient seating for all atiendess;

b) Communication facilities at the venue do not ensure that sharcholders can participate, discuss,

c)
9,

and vote;
Attendees disrupt the meeting, posing a risk to the fair and lawful conduct of the meeting.

If the Chairperson postpones or suspends the General Meeting of Shareholders in violation of
Clause & of this Article, the General Meeting shall elect another person from the attendees to
replace the Chairperson and conduct the meeting until completion. All resolutions passed at
such a meeting remain legally valid.

. 1f the company applies modem technology w hold the General Mesting of Shareholders via

online conferencing, it must ensure that shareholders can attend and vote through electronic
voting or other electronic means in accordance with Article 144 of the Law on Enterprises
and Clause 3, Article 273 of Decree No. 155/ND-CP dated December 31, 2020, detailing the
implementation of certain provisions of the Law on Securities.

Article 21. Conditions for the Adoption of Resolutions of the General Meeting of
Sharcholders

i.

a)
b]

<)
d)

¢)

A resolution on the following matters shall be adopted if approved by shareholders
representing at least 65% of the total voting shares of all attending sharcholders, except as
provided in Clauses 3, 4, and 6 of Article 148 of the Law on Enterprises:

Types of shares and the total number of shares of each type;

Changes in business lines, industries, and sectors;

Changes in the company's management structure;

Investment projects or the sale of assets valued at 35% or more of the company's total assets
as recorded in the most recent financial statements, unless the company's charter prescribes a
different ratio or value;

Reorganization or dissolution of the company.

. Dither resolutions shall be adopted if approved by shareholders holding more than 50% of the

total voting shares of all attending shareholders, except as specified in Clause | of this Article
and Clanses 3, 4, and 6 of Article 148 of the Law on Enterprises.

. Resolutions of the General Meeting of Shareholders that are approved by 100% of the total

voting shares shall be considered legal and effective, even if the procedures for convening the
meeting and adopting such resolutions viclate the provisions of the Law on Enterprises and
the company's charter.
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Article 22. Authority and Procedures for Collecting Shareholders’ Written Opinions to
Adopt Resolutions of the General Meeting of Shareholders

The authority and procedures for coliecting shareholders® written opinions to adopt resolutions of
the General Meeting of Shareholders shall be carried out as follows:

. The Board of Directors has the authority to collect shareholders' written opinions to adopt
resolutions of the General Meeting of Sharcholders when deemed necessary for the benefit of
the company. The authority and decisions of the General Meeting of Shareholders in the form
of written opinions shall have the same validity as those of an extraordinary General Meeting
of Shareholders, including the following matters:

a) Amendments and supplements to the company’s charter;

b) Decisions on the types and total number of shares of each type to be offered for sale;
determination of the annual dividend rate for each tvpe of share;

¢) Election, dismissal, and removal of members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory
Board;

d) Decisions on investments or the sale of assets valued at 35% or more of the total assets recorded
in the company’s most recent financial statements;

) Decisions on repurchasing more than 10% of the total issued shares of each type;

) Types and number of new shares 1o be issued for each type and the transfer of shares held by
founding shareholders within the first three years from the date of establishment;

g) The company enlering into contracts or transactions with entities specified in Clause |, Adicle
167 of the Law on Enterprises with a value equal to or greater than 315% of the total assets of
the company as recorded in the most recent financial statements:

h) Other matters under the authority of the General Meeting of Shareholders that the Board of
Directors deems necessary to be approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders;

i) Approval of the company’s intemal governance regulations, operational regulations of the
Board of Directors, and operational regulations of the Supervisory Board.

2. The Board of Directors must prepare opinion collection forms, draft resolutions of the General
Meeting of Shareholders, and explanatory documents related to the draft resolutions and send
them to all shareholders with voting rights at least 10 days before the deadline for retuming
the completed opinion forms. The requirements and methods for sending the opinion collection
forms and accompanying documents shall be carried out in accordance with Clause 3, Article
| 8 of this Charter.

3. The opinion collection form must include the following key contents:

a) MName, head office address, and enterprise identification number of the company;

b) Purpose of the opinion collection;

e} Full name, contact address, nationality, and legal identification number for mdividual
shareholders: for institutional shareholders, the name, enterprise identification number or legal
identificetion number, and head office address; or, for representatives of institutional
shareholders, their full name, contact address, nationality, and legal identification number; as
well as the number of shares held by each type and the comresponding voling rights;

d} Issues requiring shareholders' opinions for decision-making;
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c)
4]

a)

b)
c)

Voting options, including approval, disapproval, or no opinion for each issue;
Deadline for returning the compleied opinion collection forms w the company;
Full name and signature of the Chairman of the Board of Directors.

. Shareholders may retum completed opinion collection forms to the company by mail, fax, or

email under the following conditions:

If sent by mail, the opinion collection form must bear the signature of the individual
sharehalder or the authorized representative/legal representative of the institutional
sharcholder. The form must be enclosed in a sealed envelope and must not be opened before
vole counting;

If sent by fax or email, the opinion collection form must remain confidential until the vote
counting process begins;

Opinion collection forms received by the company after the specified deadline in the form or
those that have been opened (in case of mail) or disclosed (in case of fax or email) shall be
considered invalid. Forms not returnad shall be considered as abstentions from voting.

. The Board of Dircctors shall count the voles and prepare a vote counting report under the

supervision of the Supervisory Board or shareholders who do net hold management positions
in the company. The vote counting report must inclade the following key contents:

Mame, head office address, and enterprise identification number of the company;

Purpose of the opinion collection and issues requiring approval;

Mumber of shareholders and total voting shares participating in the vote, distinguishing
between valid and invalid votes, along with the voting method, accompanied by a list of
sharcholders who participated in the vote;
Total number of votes in favor, against, and abstaining for each issuc;

[ssues that have been approved and the corresponding voting ratios;

Full name and signature of the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the vote counters, and the
VOlE SUPervisors.

Members of the Board of Directors, vote counters, and vote supervisors shall be jointly
responsible for the honesty and accuracy of the vote counting report and shall be jointly liable
for any damages arising from dishonest or inaccurate vote counting,

The vote counting report and resolution must be sent to shareholders within 13 days from the
date the vote counting is completed. Instead of direct distribution, the company may publish
the vote counting report and resolution on its website within 24 hours from the completion of
the vote counting.

The returned opinion collection forms, vote counting report, approved resolutions, and related
documents accompanying the opinion collection forms must be stored at the company’s head
office.

A resolution shall be deemed adopted through written opinion collection if approved by
shareholders holding more than 50% of the total voting shares of all shareholders with voting
rights and shall have the same validity as a resolution adopted at a General Meeting of
Shareholders.
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Article 23, Resolutions and Minutes of the General Meeting of Shareholders

L.

h)
i)

The General Meeting of Shareholders must have its proceedings recorded in minutes and may
also be recorded via audio or other electronic means. The minutes must be prepared in

Vietnamese and may also be prepared in a foreign language, containing the following key
contents:

MName, head office address, and enterprise identification number of the company;

Time and venue of the General Meeting of Sharcholders;

Meeting agenda and content of the meeting;

Full name of the chairperson and the secretary,

Summary of the meeting proceedings and opinions expressed at the General Meeting of
Shareholders on each item on the agenda;

Number of shareholders and total voting shares of the shareholders attending the meeting,
along with an annex listing the registered shareholders and representatives attending the
meeting, including the number of shares and corresponding votes;

Total number of votes for each voting matier, specifying the voting method, total valid and
invalid votes, votes in favor, votes agalnst, end abstentions, along with the comesponding
percentage of total voting shares of attending shareholders;

Matters approved and the respective voting ratios;

Full name and signature of the chairperson and the secretary. If the chairperson or secrefary
refuses to sign the meeting minutes, the minutes shall still be valid if signed by all other
attending members of the Board of Directors and if it fully complies with the requirements of
this clause. The minutes must specify the refusal of the chairperson or secretary to sign the
document.

The minutes of the General Meeting of Shareholders must be completed and approved before
the meeting ends. The chairperson and the secretary of the meeting, or any other signatories of
the minutes, shall be jointly responsible for the accuracy and integrity of the minutes’ contenl.

. The minutes prepared in both Vietnamese and a foreign language shall have the same legal

validity. In the event of any discrepancies between the Vietnamese and forcign language
versions, the Viemamese version shall prevail.

The resolution, minutes of the General Meeting of Shareholders, the annex listing the
registered sharcholders attending the meeting with their signatures, authorization documents
for atiending the meeting, all annexed documents (if amy), and reluted documents
accompanying the meeting Invitation must be disclosed in accordance with legal regulations
on information disclosure in the securities market and must be kept at the company’s head
office.

Article 24, Request for Annulment of Resolutions of the General Meeting of Shareholders

Within 90 days from the date of receipt of the resolution, the minutes of the General Meeting of
Sharcholders, or the minutes of the voting results collected from sharchelders, a sharcholder or &
group of shareholders as prescribed in Clause 2, Article 115 of the Law on Enterpriscs has the
right to request a court or arbitration tribunal to review and annul the resolution or part of its
content in the following cases:
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. The convening procedures snd decision-making process of the General Meeting of

2,

Sharcholders seriously violate the provisions of the Law on Enterprises and the company’s
Charter, except as provided in Clause 3, Article 21 of this Charter,
The content of the resolution violates the law or this Charter.

Article 25. Nomination and Candidacy of Members of the Board of Directors

a)
b)
c)
d)
e
f)
Bg)

If candidates for the Board of Directors have been identified, the Company must disclose
relevant information about them at least 10 days before the opening date of the General
Meeting of Shareholders on the Company’s website so that shareholders can review the
candidates before voting. Candidates for the Board of Directors must provide a written
commitment regarding the truthfulness and accuracy of their disclosed personal information
and must pledge to perform their duties honestly, prudently, and in the best interests of the
Company if elected as members of the Board of Directors. The disclosed information about
the candidates includes:

Full name, date of birth;

Professional qualifications;

Work experience;

Other management positions (including Board of Directors positions in other companies);
Interests related to the Company and its related parties;

Other information (if any) as prescribed in the Company’s Charter;

A public company must disclose information about companies where the candidate holds a
position on the Board of Directors, other management pozitions, and any related interests in
such companies (if uppliaabln:}.

. Shareholders or groups of sharsholders holding at least 10% of the total ordinary shares, or &

lower percentage as prescribed in the Company's Charter, have the right to nominate
candidates for the Board of Directors in accordance with the Law on Enterprises and the
Company’s Charter.

If the number of candidates nominated and self-nominated is still insufficient as required by
Claunse 5, Article 115 of the Law on Enterprises, the incumbent Board of Directors shall
introduce additional candidates or organize nominations in accordance with the Company's
Charter, the Internal Corporate Governancs Regulations, and the Board of Directors' Operating
Regulations, The introduction of additional candidates by the incumbent Board of Directors
must be clearly announced before the General Meeting of Shareholders votes on the election
of Board members in accordance with the law.

Members of the Board of Directors must meet the qualifications and conditions preseribed in
Clauses 1 and 2, Article 155 of the Law on Enterprises and the Company’s Charter.

Article 26. Qualifications, Composition, and Term of Members of the Board of Diirectors

Members of the Board of Directors must meet the following qualifications and conditions:

a) Must not fall under the cases specified in Clause 2, Article 17 of the Law on Enterprises;
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b) Must have professional qualifications and experience in business adminisration or In the
Company's field of business and are not necessarily required to be sharcholders of the
Company, unless otherwise provided in the Company’s Charter;

¢} May simultaneously serve as &8 member of the Board of Directors of another company;

d} Must meet other gualifications and conditions as stipulated in the Company's Charter and the
Board of Directors’ Operating Regulations,

2. The number of members of the Board of Dircctors shall range from 03 to 11 members.

. The term of a member of the Board of Directors shall not exceed 05 years and may be re-
elected for an unlimited number of terms. However, an individuoal may serve as an independent
member of the Board of Directors of a company for no more than U2 consecutive terms. [f all
members of the Board of Directors' terms expire at the same time, they shall continue to serve
until new members are elected and take over their duties.

4. The composition of the Board of Directors is as follows:

Ladi

The structure of the Board of Directors of a public company must ensure that st least one-third of
the total number of members are non-cxecutive members, The Company shall minimize the
number of members of the Board of Directors holding executive positions in the Company to
maintain the independence of the Board.

The total number of independent members of the Board of Directors must comply with the
following requirements:

a)} At least 01 independent member if the Board has between 03 and 05 members;
b} At least 02 independent members if the Board has between 06 and 08 members;
c) At least 03 independent members if the Board has between 09 and 11 members.

5. A member of the Board of Directors shall no longer hold the position if they are dismissed,
removed, or replaced by the General Meeting of Shareholders in accordance with Article 160
of the Law on Enterprises, or if they no longer meet the qualifications specified in Clause | of
this Article. :

6. The appointment of members of the Board of Directors must be disclosed in accordance with
the laws on information disclosure in the securities market.

7. Members of the Board of Directors are not necessarily required to be shareholders of the
Company.

8. If deemed necessary, the General Meeting of Shareholders may replace, dismiss, or remove
any member of the Board of Directors at any time without providing a reason for the overall
efficiency of the Company's operations.

Article 27. Powers and Duties of the Board of Directors
1. The Board of Directors is the management body of the Company, having full suthority to act

on behalf of the Company in deciding and excrcising the Company's rights and obligations,
except for those that fall under the authority of the General Meeting of Shareholders.
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a)

b)
c)

d)
€)

£)
h)

i
k)

The powers and duties of the Board of Directors are determined by law, the Company’s
Charter, and resolutions of the General Meeting of Shareholders. Specifically, the Board of
Directors has the following powers and duties:

EEE:E on the Company’s strategy, medium-term development plans, and annual husiness
plans;

Propose the types of shares and the total number of shares to be offered for each type;
Decide on the sale of unsold shares within the number of shares authorized for issuance and
determine other methods of raising additional capital;

Determine the selling price of the Company*s shares and bonds;

Decide on the repurchase of shares as stipulated in Clauses | and 2, Article 133 of the Law on
Enterprises;

Approve investment plans and projects within its authority and limits prescribed by law;
Decide on market development, marketing, and technology solutions:

Approve contracts and transactions for the purchase, sale, borrowing, lending, and other
agreements with a value of 35% or more of the Company's total assets recorded in the most
recent financial statements, except for transactions under the authority of the General Mecting
of Sharcholders as stipulated in Point d, Clause 2, Article 138, and Clauses 1 and 3, Anticle
167 of the Law on Enterprises;

Elect, dismiss, or remove the Chairperson of the Board of Directors; appoint, dismiss, sign, or
terminate contracts with the General Director and other key managerial personnel as stipulated
in the Company’s Charter; determine their salaries, remuneration, bonuses, and other benefits;
appoint authorized representatives to participate in the Members' Council or the General
Meeting of Shareholders in other companies and determine their remuneration and benefits;
Supervise and direct the General Director and other managers in the daily business operations
of the Company;

Determine the organizational structure and internal management regulations of the Company;
decide on the establishment of subsidiaries, branches, representative offices, and investments
In or acquisitions of shares in other enterprises;

Approve the agenda and documents for the General Meeting of Shareholders, convene the
General Meeting of Shareholders, or collect written opinions from shareholders for resolution
approval;

m) Submit the sudited annual Anancial statements to the General Meeting of Shareholders;

n}

o)
)

9

Propose dividend payments; decide on the timeline and procedures for dividend distribution or
handling business losses;
Propose corporate restructuring or dissolution; file for the Company's bankruptey (f necessary;
[ssue the Board of Directors’ Operating Regulations, the Supervisory Board's Operating
Regulations, and internal corporate governance regulations after approval by the General
Meeting of Sharcholders; issue the Company's disclosure regulations;

Exercise other rights and perform other duties as preseribed by the Law on Enterprises, the
Law on Securities, other applicable laws, and the Company's Charter.

The Board of Directors must report its performance results to the General Mecting of

Shareholders in accordance with Article 280 of Decree Mo, [ 5520200MD-CP, dated December
31, 2020, detailing the implementation of certain provisions of the Law on Securities.
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Article 28. Remuneration, Bonuses, and Other Benefits of Board Members

-1

The Company has the right to pay remuneration and bonuses to members of the Board of
Directors based on business resulis and performance efficiency.

Board members are entitled to work remuneration and bonuses. Work remuneration is
caleulated based on the number of days required to fulfill a hoard member’s duties and the
daily remuneration rate. The Board of Directors estimates the remuneration for each member
based on the principle of unanimity. The total remuneration and bonuses of the Board of
Directors are determined by the General Meeting of Sharcholders at the annual meeting,

The remuneration of each Board member is included in the Company's business expenses in
accordance with corporate income tax regulations, recorded as a separate item in the
Company’s annual financial statements, and reported to the General Meeting of Shareholders
at the annual meeting.

. A Board member who holds an executive position, serves on committees of the Board, or

performs tasks beyond the usual duties of 2 Board member may receive additional
remuneration in the form of a lump-sum payment, salary, commission, profit-sharing, or other
forms as decided by the Board of Directors,

. Board members are entitled to reimbursement for all travel, accommedation, and other

reasonable expenses incurred while fulfilling their duties as board members, including
expenses related to attending meetings of the General Meeting of Shareholders, the Board of
Diirectors, or its committees.

. Board members may be covered by liability insurance purchased by the Company upon

approval by the General Meeting of Shareholders. This insurance does not cover liabilities
arising from violations of laws and the Company's Charter.

Article 29. Chairman of the Board of Directors

2,
E

a)
b)

c)
d)
g}
f)

4,

The Chairman of the Board of Directors is elected, dismissed, or removed by the Board of
Directors from among its members.
The Chairman of the Board of Directors may not concurrently serve as the General Director.

. The Chairman of the Board of Directors has the following rights and duties:

Develop the work program and operational plan of the Board of Directors;

Prepare the agenda, content, and documents for meetings; convene, preside over, and chair
meetings of the Board of Directors;

Organize the adoption of resolutions and decisions of the Board of Directors;

Supervise the implementation of resolutions and decisions of the Board of Directors;

Chair the General Meeting of Sharcholders;

Other rights and duties as prescribed by the Law on Enterprises and the Company’s Charter.

In the event that the Chairman of the Board of Directors resigns, is dismissed, or removed,
the Board of Directors must elect a replacement within 10 days from the date of resignation,
dismissal, or removal,

If the Chairman of the Board of Directors is absent or unable to perform their duties, they
must authorize another member in writing to act on their behalf, If no authorization is made,
or in the event of the Chairman’s death, disappearance, detention, imprisonment, compulsory
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rehabilitation, compulsory education, escape from residence, restriction or loss of legal
cepecity, cognitive or behavioral difficulties, or CDLLI'T*lﬂ‘tpDHd prohibition from holding
positions or practicing certain professions, the remaining members shall elect one of them to
act as Chairman based on the majority approval of the remaining members until a new
decision is made by the Board of Directors.

Article 30. Meetings of the Board of Directors

bj
c)

The Chairman of the Board of Directors shall be elecied at the first meeting of the Board of
Directors within seven (07) working days from the date of completion of the election of the
Board of Directors. This meeting shall be convened and cheired by the member who receives
the highest number or highest percentage of votes. If there are multiple members with equal
highl.:st votes, the members shall vote by majority 1o select one among them to convene the
meeting.

The Board of Directors must meet at least once per quarter and may convene extracrdinary
meetings as n

The Chairman of the Bna.n:! of Directors shall convene a meeting of the Board of Directors in
the following cases:

Upon request from the Supervisory Board or an independent member of the Board of Directors:
Upon request from the General Director or at least five (05) other managers;
Upon request from at least two (02) members of the Board of Directors.

The request mentioned in Clause 3 of this Article must be made in writing, clearly stating the
purpose, matters to be discussed, and the decisions within the authority of the Board of
Directors,

The Chairman of the Board of Directors must convene a meeting of the Board of Directors
within seven (07) working days from the date of receiving the request as specified in Clause 3
of this Article. If the Chairman fails to convene the meeting, they shall be responsible for any
damages incurred by the Company; in such a case, the requesting party has the right to convene
the meeting instead of the Chairman

The Chairman of the Board of Directors or the convener of the meeting must send the meeting
invitation no later than three (03) working days before the meeting date, The invitation must
specify the time, location, agenda, discussion topics, and decisions to be made. The invitation
must include the meeting materials and voling ballots for members.

The meeting invitation may be sent by letter, telephone, fax, electronic means, or any other
method specified in the Company's Charter, ensuring it reaches the registered contact address
of each Board member,

. The Chairman of the Board of Directors or the convener shall send the meeting invitation and

accompanying materials to the members of the Supervisory Board, just as they do for the Board
members.Members of the Supervisory Board have the right to attend Board mestings and
participate in discussions but are not entitled to vote.

A meeting of the Board of Directors shall be conducted when at least three-fourths (3/4) of the
total members are present. If the meeting is convened but does not meet the quorum, it shall
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be reconvened within seven (07) days from the initially planned meeting date. In this case, the
meeting shall be conducted if more than half of the Board members are present.

9. A member of the Board of Directors is considered to have attended and voted in the meeting
in the following cases:

a) Altending and voting directly at the meeting;

b) Authorizing another person to attend and vote as per Clause 11 of this Article;

¢) Altending and voling via online conferencing, electronic voting, or other clectronic means;
d} Sending a voting ballot to the meeting via mail, fax, or cmail;

e) Sending a vouing ballot by other means.

10. It a voting ballot is sent via mail, it must be placed in a sealed envelope and delivered 1o the
Chairman of the Board of Directors at least one (01) hour before the meeting starts. The baltot
shall only be opened in the presence of all attendees.

LI. Members must attend all meetings of the Board of Directors. A member may authorize another
person to attend and vote on their behalf, provided that a majority of Board members approve
the authorization.

12. A resolution or decision of the Board of Directors shall be passed if it is approved by a majority
of aitending members. [T the votes are equal, the final decision shall be made based on the
opinion of the Chairman of the Board of Directors.

Article 31. Committees under the Board of Directors

1. The Board of Directors may establish subcommitiees responsible for policy development,
human resources, remuneration, internal audit, and risk management. The number of members
in cach subcommittee shall be determined by the Board of Directors, with a minimum of three
(03) members, including Board members and external members. Independent Board members
or non-¢xecutive Board members shall constitute the majority in the subcommittee, and one of
these members shall be appointed as the Head of the subcommittes as decided by the Board of
Directors. The operation of the subcommittees must comply with the regulations of the Board
of Directors. Resolutions of a subcommittee shall be valid only if they are approved by &
majority of the members present and voting at the subcommittee meeting.

2. The execution of decisions made by the Board of Directors or its subcommittess must be in
compliance with applicable laws, the Company’s Charter, and the Internal Regulations on
Corporate Governance,

Article 32. Corporate Governance Officer

I. The Board of Directors must appoint at least one (01) Corporate Governance Officer to assist
in corporate governance within the company. This officer may concurrently serve as the
Company Secretary in accordance with Clause 5, Article 156 of the Law on Enterprises.

2, The Corporate Governance Officer must not simultancously work for any approved auditing
organization currently auditing the company's financial statements.

3. The Corporate Governance Officer has the following rights and duties:
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a)

b
c)
d)
e)
f)
£)
)

1
i)

Advising the Board of Directors on organizing the General Meeting of Sharebolders in
compliance with regulations and handling matters related to the company's interaction with
shareholders;

Preparing meetings of the Board of Directors, the Supervisory Board, and the General Meeting
of Shareholders as requested by the Board of Directors or the Supervisory Board;

Providing advice on meeting procedures;

Attending meetings;

Advising on the procedures for drafting resolutions of the Board of Directors in accordance
with the law;

Providing financial information, copies of Board meeting minutes, and other relevant
information to members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board;

Monitoring and reporting to the Board of Directors on the company’s information disclosure
activities;

Acting as a liaison between the company and stakeholders:

Ensuring confidentiality of information as required by law and the company's charter;
Performing other rights and duties as prescribed by law and the company’s charter,

¥1IL. GENERAL DIRECTOR AND OTHER EXECUTIVES

Article 33. Management Structure

The Company's management system must ensure that the management apparatus is sccountable to
the Board of Directors and operates under the supervision and direction of the Board of Directors
in the Company's daily business activities. The Company shall have a General Director, Deputy
General Directors, a Chief Accountant, and other managerial positions appointed by the Board of
Direciors. The appointment, dismissal, and removal of the aforementioned positions must be
approved through resolutions or decisions of the Board of Directors.

Article 34, Company Executives

L
2,

Company executives include the General Director, Deputy General Directors, Chief
Accountant, and other executives as stipulated in the Company's Charter.

Based on the General Director’s proposal and with the approval of the Board of Directors, the
Company may recruil additional executives in a number and with qualifications appropriate Lo
the Company's structure and management regulations as preseribed by the Board of Directors.
Company executives are responsible for supporting the Company in achieving its operational
and organizational poals.

. The General Director is entitled to salary and bonuses. The salarv and bonuses of the General

Director are determined by the Board of Directors.

The salaries of executives are recorded as part of the Company's business expenses in
accardance with corporate income tax regulations, presented as a separate item in the
Company's annual financial statements, and must be reported to the General Meeting of
Shareholders at the annual meeting,
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Article 35. Appointment, Dismissal, Duties, and Powers of the General Director

L.
L

b}
e}
d}
&)

The Board of Directors appoints one of its members or hires another individual as the General
Director,

The General Director is responsible for managing the Company's daily business operations, is
subject to the supervision of the Board of Directors, and is accountable to the Board of
Directors and the law for the execution of assigned rights and obligations.

The General Director’s term of office shall not exceed 5 years and may be reappointed for an
unlimited number of terms. The General Director must meet the qualifications and conditions
prescribed by law and the Company’s Charter.

The General Director has the following rights and obligations:

Decide on matters related to the Company's daily business operations that do not fall under
the authority of the Board of Directors;

Organize the implementation of resolutions and decisions of the Board of Directors:

Execute the Company's business plans and investment strategies;

Propose organizational structure plans and internal management regulations of the Company;
Appoint, dismiss, and remove management positions within the Company, except for positions
under the authority of the Board of Directors;

Determine salaries and other benefits for emplovees within the Company, including
managerial positions under the General Director’s appointment authority;

Recruit employees;

Propose plans for dividend distribution or handling business losses;
Exercise other rights and perform other obligations as preseribed by law, the Company's
Charter, and resolutions or decisions of the Board of Directors,

The Board of Directors may dismiss the General Director with the approval of the majority of
voting members attending the meeting and appoint a replacement.

[X. THE BOARD OF SUFERVISORS

Article 36. Candidacy and Nomination of Members of the Board of Supervisors
(Supervisors)

I
L

The candidacy and nomination of members of the Board of Supervisors shall be carried out in
accordance with the provisions of Clauses 1 and 2, Article 25 of this Charter,

In cases where the number of candidates for the Board of Supervisors through nomination and
self-nomination is insufficient, the incumbent Board of Supervisors may nominate additional
candidates or organize nominations in accordance with the Company's Charter, the Internal
Corporate Governance Regulations, and the Operational Regulations of the Board of
Supervisors. The introduction of additional candidates by the incumbent Board of Supervisors
must be clearly announced before the General Meeting of Shareholders votes 1o elect members
of the Board of Supervisors, in accordance with the law.,

Article 37. Compaosition of the Board of Supervisors
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1. The Board of Supervisors shall consist of 03 to 03 members. The term of office for each

member shall not exceed 05 years, and members may be re-elected for an unlimited number
of terms.

2. Members of the Board of Supervisors must meet the qualifications and conditions specified
in Article 169 of the Enterprise Law and must not fall under any of the following
circumstances:

a) Being employed in the accounting or finance depariment of the Company;
b) Being a member or an employee of an independent auditing firm that has audited the
Company’s financial statements in the past 03 consecutive years.

3. A member of the Board of Supervisors shall be dismissed under the following circumstances:

a) Mo longer meeting the qualifications and conditions stipulated in Clause 2 of this Article:
b} Submitting a resignation request, which is then approved.

4. A member of the Board of Supervisors shall be removed under the following eircumstances:

a) Failing to fulfill the assigned duties and responsibilities;

b) Failing to perform their rights and obligations for 06 consecutive months, except in force
Majeuns cases;

e) Repeatedly or seriously violating the obligations of a member of the Board of Supervisors,
ag prescribed by the Enterprise Law and the Company's Charter;

d) Any other cases as per the resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders.

Article 38. Head of the Board of Supervisors

|. The Head of the Board of Supervisors shall be elected by the Board of Supervisors from ameng
its members, with the election, dismissal, and removal determined by majority vote. The Board
of Supervisors must have more than half of its members permanently residing in Vietnam. The
Head of the Board of Supervisors must hold a university degree or higher in one of the
following fields: economics, finance, accounting, auditing, law, business administration, or
other disciplines related to the Company's business operations.

2. Rights and responsibilities of the Head of the Board of Supervisors:

a) Convene meetings of the Board of Supervisors;

b) Request the Board of Directors, the General Director, and other executives to provide relevant
information for reporting to the Board of Supervisors;

c) Prepare and sign reports of the Board of Supervisors after consulting the Board of Directors,
for submission to the General Meeting of Shareholders.

Article 39. Rights and Responsibilities of the Board of Supervisors
The Board of Supervisors shall have the rights and responsibilities stipulated in Article 170 of the

Law on Enterprises, as well as the following rights and obligations:
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- Propose and recommend to the General Meeting of Shareholders the approval of a list of

accredited audit firms to audit the Company's financial statements: decide on the selection of
an accredited audit firm to inspect the Company's operations and dismiss an accredited auditor
when necessary,

Be accountable to shareholders for its supervisory activities.

Monitor the Company's financial status and ensure compliance with the law in the sctivities
of the Board of Directors, the General Director, and other executives.

Ensure cooperation with the Board of Directors, the General Director, and shareholders.

In the event of detecting violations of the law or the Company’s Charter by members of the
Board of Directors, the General Director, or other executives, the Board of Supervisors must
notify the Board of Directors in writing within 48 hours, request the violator to cease the
violation, and propose corrective actions,

Develop the Operating Regulations of the Board of Supervisors and submit them to the
General Meeting of Shareholders for approval.

Report to the General Meeting of Shareholders in accordance with Article 200 of Decree No.
1552020/ND-CP, issued on December 31, 2020, by the Government, detailing the
implementation of certain provisions of the Securities Law,

Access the Company's records and documents stored at the headquarters, branches, and other
locations; visit the workplaces of the Company's executives and employees during working
hours.

Request the Board of Directors, its members, the General Director, and other executives to
provide complete, accurate, and timely information and documents related to the Company's
management, operations, and business activities.

10. Exercise other rights and fulfill other obligations as prescribed by law and this Charter.

Article 40, Meetings of the Board of Supervisors

The Board of Supervisors must convene at least twice a year, with a minimum attendance of
two-thirds of its members. The meeting minutes must be detailed and clearly documented.
The recorder and all attending members of the Board of Supervisors must sign the minutes,
These minuies must be retained to determine the responsibility of each member of the Board
of Supervisors.

The Board of Supervisors has the right to request members of the Board of Directors, the
General Director, and representatives of the accredited audit firm 1o attend the meetings and
provide clarifications on relevant matiers,

Article 41. Salaries, Remuneration, Bonuses, and Other Benefits of the Board of Supervisors

The salanies, remuneration, bonuses, and other benefits of members of the Board of Supervisors
shall be determined as follows:

L.

Members of the Board of Supervisors shall receive salaries, remuneration, bonuses, and other
benefits as decided by the General Meeting of Shareholders, The General Meeting of
Shareholders shall determine the total annual budget for salaries, remuneration, bonuses, and
other benefits, &s well as the operating expenses of the Board of Supervisors.
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2. Members of the Board of Supervisors shall be reimbursed for reasonable expenses related to
meals, accommodation, travel, and independent consulting services. The total remuneration
and expenses shall not exceed the annual operating budget of the Board of Supervisors
approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders, except in cases where the General Mesting
of Shareholders decides otherwise.

3. Salaries and operating expenses of the Board of Supervisors shall be accounted for as business
expenses of the Company in accordance with the regulations on corporate income tax and other

relevant laws. These expenses must be separately recorded in the Company s annual financial
statements,

X. RESPONSIBILITIES OF MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS,
MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS, THE GENERAL DIRECTOR, AND
OTHER EXECUTIVES

Members of the Board of Directors, Members of the Board of Supervisors, the General Dircctor,
and other executives are responsible for performing their dutics, including those as members of
subcommitiess of the Board of Directors, with honesty and diligence, in the best interests of the
Company.

Article 42, Duty of Honesty and Avoidance of Conflicts of Interest

1. Members of the Board of Directors, members of the Board of Supervisors, the General
Director, and other executives must disclose their related interests in accordance with the Law
on Enterprises and other relevant legal regulations.

2, Members of the Board of Directors, members of the Board of Supervisors, the General
Director, other executives, and their related persons may only use the information obtained
through their positions for the benefit of the Company.

3. Membars of the Board of Directors, members of the Board of Supervisors, the General
Director, and other executives must notify the Board of Directors and the Board of Supervisors
in writing of any transactions between the Company, its subsidiaries, or other entities
controlled by the Company (holding at least 50% of charter capital) and these individuals or
their related persons, in accordance with the law. Transactions requiring approval from the
General Meeting of Sharcholders or the Board of Directors must be disclosed in accordance
with securities regulations.

4, A member of the Beard of Directors shall not vote on transactions that provide benefits to
themselves or their related persons as prescribed by the Law on Enterprises and the Company’s
Charter,

5. Members of the Board of Directors, members of the Board of Supervisors, the General
Director, other executives, and their related persons must not use or disclose internal
information to conduct related fransactions.

6. Transactions between the Company and one or more members of the Board of Directors,
members of the Board of Supervisors, the General Director, other executives, or their related
persons shall not be invalidated if:
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a)

b}

For transactions valued at up to twenty percent (20%) of the total assets recorded in the most
recent financial statements, the key terms and related interests have been reported to the Board
of Directors and approved by a majority vote of disinterested Board members.

For transactions exceeding twenty percent (20%) or transactions that, within 12 months of the
first transaction, result in 4 total transaction value of twenty percent (20%) or more of the total
assets recorded in the most recent financial statements, the key terms and related interests have
been disclosed to shareholders and approved by a vote of disinterested shareholders at the
General Meeting of Sharcholders,

Article 43. Liability for Damages and Compensation

]

XL

Members of the Board of Directors, members of the Board of Supervisors, the General
Director, and other executives who violate their duties of honesty and prudence, or fail 1o
fulfill their obligations, shall be liable for any damages caused by their violations.

The Company shall compensate individuals who are, were, or may become invalved in
complaints, lawsuits, or prosecutions (including civil, administrative cases but excluding
lawsuits initiated by the Company} if such individuals are or were members of the Board of
Directors, members of the Board of Supervisors, the General Director, other executives,
employees, or authorized representatives of the Company, and have acted honestly, prudently,
in the best interests of the Company, and in compliance with the law, with no evidence proving
their breach of duty.

Compensation costs include judgments, fines, actual expenses incurred (including attorney
fees) in resolving such cases, as permitted by law. The Company may purchase insurance for
these individuals to mitigate liability for such compensation.

RIGHT TO INSPFECT THE COMPANY'S BOOKS AND RECORDS,

Article 44. Right to Inspect Books and Records

)

b)

Ordinary shareholders have the right to inspect books and records as follows:

Ordinary shareholders have the right to review, inspect, and extract information regarding
nemes and contact addresses in the list of shareholders with voting rights; request corrections
of inaccurate information about themselves; review, inspect, exiract, or copy the Company's
Charter, minutes of the General Meeting of Shareholders, and resclutions of the General
Meeting of Shareholders.

Shareholders or groups of shareholders owning at least 5% of the total ordinary shares have
the right to review, inspect, extract the minutes and resolutions/decisions of the Board of
Directors, mid-year and annual financial statements, reports of the Board of Supervisors,
conftracts, transactions subject to Board of Directors" approval, and other documents, except
those related to the Company’s trade secrets and business secrets.

In case an authorized representative of a shareholder or a group of shareholders requests

access to books and records, they must provide a power of attorney from the sharcholder(s)
they represent or a notarized copy of such authonization.

34




3. Members of the Board of Directors, members of the Board of Supervisors, the General

Director, and other executives have the right to inspect the Company's register of
shareholders, shareholder list, books, and other records for purposes related to their position,
provided that such information remains confidential.

The Company is required to store its Charter and amendments, Enterprise Registration
Certificate, internal regulations, asset ownership documents, resolutions of the General
Meeting of Shareholders and the Board of Directors, minutes of meetings of the General
Meeting of Shareholders and the Board of Directors, reports of the Board of Directors and the
Board of Supervisors, annual financial statements, accounting records, and other documents
as required by law at its headquarters or another location, provided that shareholders and the
Business Registration Authority are informed of the storage location.

5. The Company's Charter must be published on its official website,

XL EMPLOYEES AND TRADE UNION

Article 45. Employees and Trade Union

L

The General Director must develop a plan for approval by the Board of Directors regarding
matters related 10 recruitment, termination of employment, salaries, social insurance,
employee benefits, rewards, and disciplinary actions for employees and corporate executives.

- The General Director must develop a plan for approval by the Board of Directors regarding

the Company's relationship with trade union organizations, ensuring alignment with hest
management practices, the policies and practices set forth in this Charter, the Company's
internal regulations, and applicable laws,

XL PROFIT DISTRIBUTION

Article 46, Profit Distribution

i

2.

The General Meeting of Shareholders shall determine the annual dividend payment rate and
the form of dividend payment from the Company's retained earnings.

The Company shall not pay interest on dividend payments or any other payments related to a
type of share,

The Board of Directors may propose that the General Meeting of Sharcholders approve the
payment of dividends in whole or in part in the form of shares, and the Board of Directors shall
implement such a decision.

In cases where dividends or other payments related to a type of share are paid in cash, the
Company must pay them in Vietnamese Dong. Payment may be made directly or via banks
based on the bank account details provided by the shareholders. If the Company has transferred
funds according to the correct bank details provided by a shareholder and the shareholder does
not recetve the payment, the Company shall not be liable for the transferred amount. The
payment of dividends for shares listed or registered for trading on the Stock Exchange may be
made through securities companies or the Vietnam Securities Depository and Clearing
Corporation.

Pursuant to the Law on Enterprises and the Law on Securities, the Board of Directors shall
pass 4 resolution or decision specifying a paricular date to finalize the list of shareholders.
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B.

Based on this date, those registered as shareholders or owners of other securities shall be

entitled to receive dividends in cash or shares, notifications, or other documents,

Uther matters related to profit distribution shall be implemented in accordance with the

provisions of the law.

ATV. BANK ACCOUNTS, FISCAL YEAR, AND ACCOUNTING REGIME

Article 47, Bank Accounts

2.

3

The Company shall open accounts at Vietnamese banks or branches of foreign banks licensed
to operate in Vietnam.

With prior approval from the competent authority, the Company may open bank accounts
abroad if necessary, in accordance with legal regulations.

The Company shall conduct all payments and accounting transactions through its Vietnamese
Dong or foreign currency accounts at the banks where the Company holds accounts.

Article 48. Fiscal Year

The Company's fiscal year begins on January 1st of each vear and ends on December 315t of the
same year. The first fiscal vear starts from the date of issuance of the Enterprise Registration
Certificate and ends on December 31 st immediately following the issuance date of such certificate.

Article 49, Accounting Regime

1.
2

The Company shall adopt the enterprise accounting regime or a specific accounting regime
issued or approved by the competent authority.

The Company shall maintain accounting records in Vietnamese and preserve accounting
documents in accordance with the provisions of ccounting laws and related regulations.
These records must be accurate, up to date, systematic, and sufficient to substantiate and
explain the Company’s transactions.

. The accounting currency unit used by the Company is the Vietnamese Dong (VND). If the

Company primarily conducts transactions in a foreign cumency, it may select that currency as
its accounting unit, bear responsibility for this choice before the law, and notify the relevant
tax authority.

XV. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, ANNUAL REPORTS, AND INFORMATION
DISCLOSURE RESPONSIBILITIES

Article 50. Annual, Semi-Annual, and Quarterly Financial Statements

The Company must prepare annual financial statements, which must be audited in accordance
with legal regulations. The Company shall disclose the audited annual financial statements in
accordance with the law on information disclosure in the securitics market and submit them
to the competent state authorities.
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2. The annual financial statements must include all reports, appendices, and explanatory notes
as prescribed by corporate accounting laws, The annual financial statements must accurately
and objectively reflect the Company’s operational status.

3. The Company must prepare and disclose reviewed semi-annual financial statements and
quarterly financial statements in accordance with the law on information disclosure in the
securities market and submit them to the competent state authorities.,

Article 51. Annual Report

The Company must prepare and disclose the Annual Report in accordance with the legal
regulations on securities and the securities market,

XVL COMPANY AUDIT
Article 52, Audit

I. The General Meeting of Sharcholders shall appoint an independent auditing company or
approve a list of independent auditing companies and authorize the Board of Directors to select
ane of these firms to audit the Company’s financial statements for the tollowing fiscal year
based on the terms and conditions agreed upon with the Board of Directors.

The audit report shall be attached to the Company's annual financial statements.

The independent auditor conducting the audit of the Company's financial statements has the
right to attend the General Meeting of Sharcholders, receive notifications and relevant
information regarding the meeting, and express opinions at the meeting on matters related (o
the audit of the Company’s financial statements.

b b

XVIL. COMPANY SEAL
Article 53, Company Seal

l.  The company seal includes seals made at an engraving tacility or seals in the form of digital
signatures as prescribed by the law on electronic transactions.

2. The Board of Directors shall determine the type, quantity, form, and content of the Company’s
seal, including those of its branches and representative offices (if any).

3. The Board of Directors and the General Director shall use and manage the seal in accordance
with the prevalling laws.

XVIIL DISSOLUTION OF THE COMPANY

Article 54. Dissolution of the Company

1. The Company may be dissolved in the following cases:

#) Upaon the expiration of its operating term as stated in the Company’s Charter without a decision

on extension;
b) Based on a resolution or decision of the General Meeting of Shareholders;
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¢} I its Enterprise Registration Certificate is revoked, except in cases where the Law on Tax
Administration provides otherwise;
d) Other cases as prescribed by law,

2. The premature dissolution of the Company (including after an extended term) shall be decided
by the General Meeting of Shareholders and implemented by the Board of Directors. This

dissolution decision must be notified to or approved by the competent authority (if required)
in accordance with the law.

Article 55, Extension of Operation

1. The Board of Directors shall convene a General Meeting of Shareholders at least seven months
before the expiration of the Company's operating term so that shareholders can vote on the
extension of the Company's operation upon the Board of Directors' proposal.

2. The operating term shall be extended if shareholders representing at least 65% of the total

voting shares of all shareholders attending the General Meeting of Shareholders approve the
extension.

Article 56. Liguidation

1. At least six months before the expiration of the Company’s operating term or after the decision
on dissolution of the Company, the Board of Directors must establish a Liquidation Committee
consisting of three members, including two members appointed by the General Meeting of
Shareholders and one member appointed by the Board of Directors from an independent
auditing firm. The Liquidation Committee shall prepare its operational regulations. The
members of the Liguidation Committee may be selecied from the Company's employees or
mdependent experts. All liquidation-related expenses shall be prioritized for payment before
other Company debis.

2. The Liquidation Committee is responsible for notifying the Business Registration Authority of
its establishment date and commencement of operations. From that point onward, the
Liguidation Committee shall represent the Company in all matters related to the liguidation
process before the court and administrative asthorities.

3. The proceeds from the liquidation shall be distributed in the following order;

a) Liquidation expenses;

b) Wages, severance allowances, social insurance, and other employee benefits as per collective
labor agreements and signed labor contracts;

¢) Tax obligations;

d) Other Company debts:

e) The remaining assets, after settling all debis from (a) 1o (d) above, shall be distributed to
shareholders. Preferred shares shall be settled first.

XIX. INTERNAL DISPUTE RESOLUTION

Article 57. Internal Dispute Resolution
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1,

a)

In case of disputes or complaints arising concemning the Company's operations, the rights and
obligations of shareholders under the Law on Enterprises, the Company’s Charter, other legal
provisions, or agreements between:

A shareholder and the Company;
A shareholder and the Board of Directors, Supervisory Board, General Director, or other
executives;

The involved parties shall endeavor to resolve such disputes through negotistion and
mediation. Unless the dispute involves the Board of Directors or the Chairman of the Board,
the Chairman shall preside over the dispute resolution process and request each party to submit
relevant information regarding the dispute within 30 working days from the date the dispute
arises. If the dispute involves the Board of Directors or the Chairman, any party may request
the Head of the Supervisory Board to appoint an independent expert a3 a mediator for the
dizpute resolution process,

. If no mediation decision is reached within six weeks from the start of the mediation process,

or if the mediator’s decision is not accepted by the parties, either party may refer the dispute
to arbitration or court.

. Each party shall bear its own costs related to the negotiation and mediation procedures, The

payment of court costs shall be carried out in accordance with the court’s ruling,

XX. AMENDMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTS TO THE CHARTER

Article 58. Company Charter

8

7'

Any amendment or supplement to this Charter must be reviewed and decided upon by the
General Meeting of Shareholders.

In cases where legal provisions related to the Company's operations are not mentioned in this
Charter, or if there are new legal provisions that differ from those stated in this Charter, such
legal provisions shall apply to regulate the Company's activities,

XXIL EFFECTIVE DATE

Article 59, Effective Date

1. This Charter, consisting of 21 sections and 59 articles, shall take effect upon approval by
the General Meeting of Shareholders.

2. The Charter is made in 10 copies, all of which have equal legal validity and must be kept
at the Company's headquarters.

3. This Charter is the sole and official version of the Company.

4. Copies or extracts of the Company's Charter shall be valid only when signed by the
Chairman of the Board of Directors or at least half of the wtal number of Board members,
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AFPPENDIX I

Information on Founding Shareholders of Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company

(This appendix is an integral part of the Charter of Thuan Duc Joint Stock Company and was
approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders under Resolution No. 1304/2025/N0-
BHBCD-TDP dated April 13, 2023 )

Province

No. Founding Registered Permanent Address Motes
Shareholder “‘;‘I‘l‘:':;“f
Name '
1 NGUYEN DUC | Mo, 95, Giay Thep Area, Dong
CUONG Dang Town, Cao Loc District, Lang 40,000
San Province
2 | HDANG VAN Hamlet 2, Kim Thap Village, Dong
THIEL Tien Commune, Khoai Chau 15,000
District, Hung Yen Province Shire face
3 [VY YANBENG | Quarter 7, Cao Loc Town, Cao Loc 12,000 value: 100.000
District, Lang Son Province J "-.-"N D‘
4 TRINH XUAN Dinh Mo Village, Xuan Lai
MINH Commune, Gia Binh District, Bac 1,500
. Ninh Province
3 | NGUYEN VIET | Area 11, Huong Non Commune,
HUNG Tam MNeng District, Phu Tho S00
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